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 RISK FACTORS
 

In addition to the other information in this registration statement, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our business and us:
 
Risks Related to Our Business
 
Equinix and its acquired subsidiaries, i-STT and Pihana, have limited operating histories and the market for each company’s services is still in its early stages.
 

We were founded in June 1998 and did not recognize any revenue until November 1999. In December 2002, we purchased i-STT and Pihana Pacific as more fully
described in our definitive proxy statement dated December 12, 2003. i-STT was founded in January 2000 and did not recognize any revenue until May 2000. Pihana was
founded in June 1999 and did not recognize any revenue until June 2000. We expect that we will encounter challenges and difficulties frequently experienced by early-stage
companies in new and rapidly evolving international markets, such as our ability to generate cash flow, hire, train and retain sufficient operational and technical talent, and
implement our plan with minimal delays. We may not successfully address any or all of these challenges and our failure to do so would seriously harm our business plan and
operating results, and affect our ability to raise additional funds.
 

If we are unable to meet these challenges and generate higher revenues while reducing costs, we may not be able to comply with the covenants in the credit facility. If we
breach our credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all amounts previously drawn down and we will not have sufficient cash reserves to repay such amounts.
 
Equinix, i-STT and Pihana have each incurred substantial losses in the past, may continue to incur additional losses in the future and will not be profitable until the
combined company reverses this trend.
 

Equinix incurred losses of approximately $21.6 million for 2002 ($135.8 million, excluding the gain on debt extinguishment), i-STT incurred losses of approximately
$8.0 million for 2002 and Pihana incurred losses of approximately $148.5 million for the same period. For the three months ended March 31, 2003, the combined company
incurred additional losses of $25.6 million. In recent periods, Equinix, i-STT and Pihana have not generated cash from operations. Even if the combined company achieves
profitability, given the competitive and evolving nature of the industry in which it operates, the combined company may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a
quarterly or annual basis.
 

The combination will delay, and may prevent, our profitability as a result of factors including:
 
 •  significant operating losses and lower gross margins generated by Pihana’s IBX hubs;
 
 •  costs associated with integrating the three businesses; and
 
 •  fees and costs associated with completing these transactions, including professional fees.

As a result of these increased expenses, the combined company will need to increase revenues in order to reach profitability. If we are unable to sufficiently grow
revenues while reducing costs, we may not be able to comply with the covenants in our credit facility. If we breach the credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all
amounts previously drawn down and we do not have sufficient cash reserves to repay such amounts.
 
We expect our operating results to fluctuate.
 

Equinix, i-STT and Pihana have each experienced fluctuations in their respective results of operations on a quarterly and annual basis. The fluctuation in their operating
results may cause the market price of our common
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stock to decline. We expect to experience significant fluctuations in our operating results in the foreseeable future due to a variety of factors, including:
 
 •  changes in general economic conditions and specific market conditions in the telecommunications and Internet industries;
 
 •  growth or decline of Internet use;
 
 •  customer insolvency;
 
 •  the ability of our customers to obtain financing or to fund their capital expenditures;
 
 •  demand for space and services at our IBX hubs;
 
 •  our pricing policies and the pricing policies of our competitors;
 
 •  the timing of customer installations and related payments;
 
 •  customer retention and satisfaction;
 
 •  the provision of customer discounts and credits;
 
 •  the mix of current and proposed products and services and the gross margins associated with our products and services;
 
 •  competition in the markets;
 
 •  conditions related to international operations;
 
 •  the timing and magnitude of capital expenditures and expenses related to the expansion of sales, marketing, operations and acquisitions, if any, of complementary

businesses and assets;
 
 •  the cost and availability of adequate public utilities, including power;
 
 •  ability to obtain, transfer, or maintain licenses required by governmental entities with respect to the combined business; and
 
 •  compliance with governmental regulation with which we have little experience.
 
 •  the effects of terrorist activity and armed conflict, such as disruptions in general economic activity, changes in logistics and security arrangements, and reduced

customer demand for our services;
 

Any of the foregoing factors, or other factors discussed elsewhere in this report, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. Although Equinix, i-STT and Pihana have experienced growth in revenues in recent quarters, this growth rate is not necessarily indicative of future operating results.
It is possible that the combined company may never achieve profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. In addition, a relatively large portion of our expenses are fixed in the
short-term, particularly with respect to lease and personnel expenses, depreciation and amortization, and interest expenses. Therefore, our results of operations are particularly
sensitive to fluctuations in revenues. As such, comparisons to prior reporting periods should not be relied upon as indications of the combined company’s future performance. In
addition, our operating results in one or more future quarters may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors. If this occurs, we could experience an
immediate and significant decline in the trading price of its stock.
 

If we cannot generate higher revenues, while reducing costs by combining the businesses, we may not be able to comply with the covenants in the credit facility. If the
combined company breaches the credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all amounts previously drawn and the combined company will not have sufficient cash
reserves to repay such amounts.
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If we cannot successfully integrate Pihana’s and i-STT’s respective existing business operations, we may not achieve the anticipated benefits of the combination.
 

Integrating i-STT and Pihana into our business operations involves a number of risks, including:
 
 •  the difficulties and expenses in combining the operations, technology and computer systems and software applications of the three companies;
 
 •  the different geographic locations of the principal operations of us, i-STT and Pihana;
 
 •  the difficulties in integrating the companies’ key revenue-generating services in a way that would be accepted in the market;
 
 •  the difficulties in the creation and maintenance of uniform standards, controls, procedures and policies;
 
 •  the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing operations;
 
 •  the challenges in keeping and attracting customers; and
 
 •  the introduction of new or enhanced services.
 

If we are to realize the anticipated benefits of the combination, our operations must be efficiently and effectively integrated with the operation of i-STT and Pihana.
There can be no assurance that the integration will be successful or that the anticipated benefits of the combination will be realized. If we cannot generate higher revenues, while
reducing costs, we may not be able to comply with the covenants in our credit facility. If we breach the credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all amounts
previously drawn down and we do not have sufficient cash reserves to repay such amounts.
 
If we cannot effectively integrate and manage international operations, our revenues may not increase and our business and results of operations would be harmed.
 

In 2002, our sales outside North America represented less than 1% of our revenues, i-STT’s sales outside North America represented approximately 100% of its
revenues and Pihana’s sales outside North America represented approximately 45% of its revenues. For the three months ended March 31, 2003, the combined company
recognized 16% of its revenues outside North America. We anticipate that, for the foreseeable future, approximately 15% of the combined company’s revenues will be derived
from sources outside North America. Our management team is comprised primarily of Equinix executives before the combination, some of whom have had limited or no
experience overseeing international operations.
 

To date, the neutrality of the Equinix IBX hubs and the variety of networks available to our customers has often been a competitive advantage for us. In certain of our
recently acquired IBX hubs, in Singapore in particular, the limited number of carriers available diminishes that advantage. As a result, we may need to adapt our key revenue-
generating services and pricing to be competitive in that market.
 

We may experience gains and losses resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, for which hedging activities may not adequately protect us. Where
our prices are denominated in U.S. dollars, our sales could be adversely affected by declines in foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar, thereby making our products more
expensive in local currencies. Our international operations are generally subject to a number of additional risks, including:
 
 •  costs of customizing IBX hubs for foreign countries;
 
 •  protectionist laws and business practices favoring local competition;
 
 •  greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection;
 
 •  difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;
 
 •  political and economic instability;
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 •  ability to obtain, transfer, or maintain licenses required by governmental entities with respect to the combined business; and
 
 •  compliance with governmental regulation with which we have little experience.
 

To date, the majority of Equinix’s revenues and costs have been denominated in U.S. dollars; the majority of i-STT’s revenues and costs have been denominated in
Singapore dollars and the majority of Pihana’s revenues and costs have been denominated in U.S. dollars, Japanese yen and Australian and Singapore dollars. However, we
expect that in the future an increasing portion of revenues and costs will be denominated in foreign currencies. Although the combined company may undertake foreign
exchange hedging transactions to reduce foreign currency transaction exposure, it does not currently intend to eliminate all foreign currency transaction exposure.
 
STT Communications holds a substantial portion of our stock and has significant influence over matters requiring stockholder consent.
 

STT Communications currently owns approximately 27% of our outstanding voting stock. Because of the diffuse ownership of our stock, STT Communications has
significant influence over matters requiring our stockholder approval. Following the expiration of restrictions on STT Communications preventing it from converting its
convertible secured notes and warrants into voting stock if, as a result, STT Communications will own more than 40% of our voting stock, STT Communications will effectively
control the company and the election of directors to our board of directors. Consequently, STT Communications will be able to exercise significant control over all matters
requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions, which could prevent or delay a third party from acquiring
or merging with us.
 
We need to improve and implement financial and managerial controls and improve our reporting systems and procedures. If we are unable to do so successfully, we
may not be able to manage growth effectively and our operating results would be harmed.
 

In order to manage the integration of the i-STT and Pihana businesses, we need to continue to improve our financial and managerial controls and reporting systems and
procedures. Any inability of our management to integrate additional companies, employees, technology advances and customer service into operations and to eliminate
unnecessary duplication may have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We may be forced to take steps, and may be prevented from pursuing certain business opportunities, to ensure compliance with certain tax-related covenants agreed
to by us in the combination agreement.
 

We agreed to a covenant in the combination agreement (which we refer to as the FIRPTA covenant) that we would use all commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that
at all times from and after the closing of the combination until such time as neither STT Communications nor its affiliates hold our capital stock or debt securities (or the capital
stock received upon conversion of the debt securities) received by STT Communications in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated in the
combination agreement, none of our capital stock issued to STT Communications constitute “United States real property interests” within the meaning of Section 897(c) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, which we call the Code. Under Section 897(c) of the Code, our capital stock issued to STT Communications would generally constitute
“United States real property interests” at such point in time that the fair market value of the “United States real property interests” owned by us equals or exceeds 50% of the
sum of the aggregate fair market values of (a) our “United States real property interests,” (b) our interests in real property located outside the U.S., and (c) any other assets held
by us which are used or held for use in our trade or business. Given that we currently own significant amounts of “United States real property interests,” we may be limited with
respect to the business opportunities we may pursue, particularly if the business opportunities would increase the amounts of “United States real property
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interests” owned by us or decrease the amount of other assets owned by us. In addition, pursuant to the FIRPTA covenant we may be forced to take commercially reasonable
proactive steps to ensure our compliance with the FIRPTA covenant, including, but not limited to, (a) a sale-leaseback transaction with respect to all real property interests, or
(b) the formation of a holding company organized under the laws of the Republic of Singapore which would issue shares of its capital stock in exchange for all of our
outstanding stock (this reorganization would require the submission of that transaction to our stockholders for their approval and the consummation of that exchange).
 
Our non-U.S. customers include numerous related parties of i-STT.
 

In the past, a substantial portion of i-STT’s financing, as well as its revenues, has been derived from its affiliates. We continue to have contractual and other business
relationships and may engage in material transactions with affiliates of STT Communications. Circumstances may arise in which the interests of STT Communications’
affiliates may conflict with the interests of our other stockholders. In addition, Singapore Technologies Pte Ltd, an affiliate of STT Communications, makes investments in
various companies; it has invested in the past, and may invest in the future, in entities that compete with us. In the context of negotiating commercial arrangements with
affiliates, conflicts of interest have arisen in the past and may arise, in this or other contexts, in the future. There can be no assurance that any conflicts of interest will be
resolved in our favor.
 
Our success is dependent on the retention of our executive officers and key employees.
 

We are substantially dependent upon the continued service of our executive officers. In addition, we are dependent on the retention of key employees of Pihana and i-
STT who have knowledge of the applicable local business environment and data center operations. Without these individuals as part of the management team, it would be
significantly more difficult to efficiently and effectively integrate our critical functions and compete effectively against other Internet infrastructure companies.
 
We have significant debt and we may not generate sufficient cash flow to meet our debt service obligations.
 

Our total debt consists primarily of the following:
 
 •  a total of $30.5 million principal amount of senior notes;
 
 •  a total of $91.5 million principal amount of loans under our credit facility;
 
 •  a total of $30.0 million of a newly issued convertible secured note; and
 
 •  approximately $9.6 million of other outstanding debt facilities and capital lease obligations.
 

Under the terms of the combination agreement, we are contractually obligated to use our reasonable best efforts to obtain the release of STT Communications from a
bank guarantee associated with i-STT’s unconsolidated Thailand joint venture. Such efforts may include i-STT assuming such guarantee if it is commercially reasonable to do
so. This guarantee is for 60% of a Thai baht 260,000,000 bank loan (approximately $6,058,000 as translated using effective exchange rates at March 31, 2003), of which Thai
baht 58,300,000 is currently outstanding as of March 31, 2003 (approximately $1,358,000 as translated using effective exchange rates at March 31, 2003). Currently, neither the
Company nor i-STT have assumed any portion of this guarantee.
 

The amount of our debt could have important consequences, including:
 
 •  impairing our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or general corporate purposes;
 
 •  requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our operating cash flow to paying principal and interest on indebtedness, thereby reducing the funds available for

operations;
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 •  limiting our ability to grow and make capital expenditures due to the financial covenants contained in our debt arrangements;
 
 •  impairing our ability to adjust rapidly to changing market conditions, invest in new or developing technologies, or take advantage of significant business opportunities

that may arise; and
 
 •  making us more vulnerable if a general economic downturn continues or if its businesses experience difficulties.
 

If we cannot generate sufficient additional revenue and recognize sufficient synergy savings by combining the businesses, we may not be able to meet our debt service
obligations or repay our debt when due or comply with other covenants in the credit facility. If we breach the credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all amounts
previously drawn down, and we do not have sufficient cash reserves to repay such amounts.
 
We may be unable to raise the funds necessary to repay or refinance our indebtedness.
 

We are obligated to make principal and/or interest payments on our credit facility each year until up to 2006 and on our senior notes each year until 2007. Additionally,
our credit facility matures in 2006 and the convertible secured notes and our senior notes mature in 2007. Each of these obligations require significant amounts of liquidity. We
may need additional capital to fund those obligations. Our ability to arrange financing and the cost of this financing will depend upon many factors, including:
 
 •  general economic and capital markets conditions generally, and in particular the non-investment grade debt market;
 
 •  conditions in the Internet infrastructure market;
 
 •  credit availability from banks or other lenders;
 
 •  investor confidence in the telecommunications industry generally and our company specifically;
 
 •  the success of our IBX hubs; and
 
 •  provisions of tax and securities laws that are conducive to raising capital.
 

If we need additional funds, our inability to raise them will have an adverse effect on our operations. If we decide to raise additional funds by incurring debt, we may
become subject to additional or more restrictive financial covenants and ratios.
 
We are subject to restrictive covenants under the credit facility that limit our flexibility in managing our business.
 

Our credit facility requires that the combined company maintain specific financial ratios and comply with covenants, including a monthly cash covenant, and contains
numerous restrictions on our ability to incur debt, pay dividends or make other restricted payments, sell assets, enter into affiliate transactions and take other actions.
Furthermore, our existing financial arrangements are, and future financing arrangements are likely to be, secured by substantially all of our assets. If we are unable to meet the
terms of the financial covenants or if we breach any of these covenants, a default could result under one or more of these agreements. A default, if not waived by our lenders,
could result in the acceleration of outstanding indebtedness and cause our debt to become immediately due and payable. If an acceleration occurs, we will not be able to repay
our debt, and it is unlikely that we will be able to borrow sufficient additional funds to refinance our debt. Even if new financing is made available to us, it may not be available
on terms acceptable to us.
 
A significant number of shares of our capital stock issued in connection with our recent acquisition and financing transaction may be sold in the market in the near
future. This could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.
 

We issued a large number of shares of our capital stock to the former Pihana stockholders, an affiliate of STT Communications, and holders of our senior notes in
connection with our recent acquisition and financing
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transaction. The shares of common stock issued in our recent senior note exchange are currently eligible for sale into the public market. The shares of common stock issued in
connection with our recent acquisition transactions are being registered for resale within six months. Subject to the restrictions described in our December 2002 proxy statement,
the senior notes and warrants issued in connection with our recent financing transactions are immediately convertible or exercisable into shares of common stock and the
underlying shares of common stock may be registered for resale after June 30, 2003. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by these parties within any
narrow period of time could cause our stock price to fall. In addition, the issuance of the additional shares of our common stock as a result of these transactions will reduce our
earnings per share, if any. This dilution could reduce the market price of our common stock unless and until we achieve revenue growth or cost savings and other business
economies sufficient to offset the effect of this issuance. There can be no assurance that we will achieve revenue growth, cost savings or other business economies.
 
Our profitability is affected by the average selling price of our services and our operations efficiency rates.
 

Decreases in the average selling prices of our, i-STT’s, and Pihana’s services have had and will continue to have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
Historically, the average per square foot selling price of our, i-STT’s and Pihana’s services have declined since the commencement of their respective operations. Our ability to
achieve profitability will continue to be dependent, in large part, upon our ability to offset any decreases in average per square foot selling prices by improving operations
efficiency, and increasing the value added services provided at our IBX hubs. If we are unable to do so, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially adversely affected.
 
We resell products and services of third parties that may require us to pay for such services even if our customers fail to pay us for the services which may have a
negative impact on our operating results.
 

In order to provide resale services such as bandwidth, managed services, backup and recovery services and other network management services, we will contract with
third party service providers. These services require us to enter into fixed term contracts for services with third party suppliers of products and services. If we experience the loss
of a customer who has purchased a resale product, we will remain obligated to continue paying monies to our suppliers for the term of the underlying contracts. The payment of
these obligations without a corresponding payment from customers will reduce our financial resources and may have a material adverse affect on our financial performance and
operating results.
 
We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.
 

Our IBX hubs and other products and services must be able to differentiate themselves from existing providers of space and services for telecommunications companies,
web hosting companies and other colocation providers. In addition to competing with neutral colocation providers, we must compete with traditional colocation providers,
including local phone companies, long distance phone companies, Internet service providers and web hosting facilities. Likewise, with respect to our other products and
services, including managed services, bandwidth services and security services, we must compete with more established providers of similar services. Most of these companies
have longer operating histories and significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than us.
 

Because of their greater financial resources, some of these companies have the ability to adopt aggressive pricing policies. As a result, in the future, we may suffer from
pricing pressure that would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, these competitors could offer colocation on
neutral terms, and may start doing so in the same metropolitan areas where we have IBX hubs. Some of these competitors may also provide our target customers with additional
benefits, including bundled communication services, and may do so in a manner that is more attractive to our potential customers than obtaining space in our IBX hubs. We
believe our neutrality provides us with an advantage over these
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competitors. However, if these competitors were able to adopt aggressive pricing policies together with offering colocation space, our ability to generate revenues would be
materially adversely affected.
 

We may also face competition from persons seeking to replicate our IBX concept. Competitors may operate more successfully or form alliances to acquire significant
market share. Furthermore, enterprises that have already invested substantial resources in peering arrangements may be reluctant or slow to adopt our approach that may
replace, limit or compete with their existing systems. In addition, other companies may be able to attract the same potential customers that we are targeting. Once customers are
located in competitors’ facilities, it will be extremely difficult to convince them to relocate to our IBX hubs.
 
Because we depend on the development and growth of a balanced customer base, failure to attract and retain this base of customers could harm our business and
operating results.
 

Our ability to maximize revenues depends on our ability to develop and grow a balanced customer base, consisting of a variety of companies, including network service
providers, site and performance management companies, and enterprise and content companies. The more balanced the customer base within each IBX hub, the better we will
be able to generate significant interconnection revenues, which in turn increases our overall revenues. Our ability to attract customers to our IBX hubs will depend on a variety
of factors, including the presence of multiple carriers, the mix of products and services offered by us, the overall mix of customers, the IBX hub’s operating reliability and
security and our ability to effectively market our services. In addition, some of our customers are and will continue to be Internet companies that face many competitive
pressures and that may not ultimately be successful. If these customers do not succeed, they will not continue to use the IBX hubs. This may be disruptive to our business and
may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
Our products and services have a long sales cycle that may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 

A customer’s decision to license cabinet space in the IBX hubs and to purchase additional services typically involves a significant commitment of resources and will be
influenced by, among other things, the customer’s confidence in our financial strength. In addition, some customers will be reluctant to commit to locating in our IBX hubs until
they are confident that the IBX hub has adequate carrier connections. As a result, we have a long sales cycle. Delays due to the length our sales cycle may materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We depend on a number of third parties to provide Internet connectivity to our IBX hubs; if connectivity is interrupted or terminated, our operating results and cash
flow will be materially adversely affected.
 

The presence of diverse telecommunications carriers’ fiber networks to our IBX hubs is critical to our ability to attract new customers. We believe that the availability of
carrier capacity will directly affect our ability to achieve our projected results.
 

We are not a telecommunications carrier, and as such we rely on third parties to provide our customers with carrier services. We rely primarily on revenue opportunities
from their customers to encourage carriers to invest the capital and operating resources required to build facilities from their locations to our IBX hubs. Carriers will likely
evaluate the revenue opportunity of an IBX hub based on the assumption that the environment will be highly competitive. There can be no assurance that any carrier will elect
to offer its services within our IBX hubs. In addition, there can be no assurance once a carrier has decided to provide Internet connectivity to our IBX hubs that it will continue
to do so for any period of time.
 

The construction required to connect multiple carrier facilities to our IBX hubs is complex and involves factors outside of our control, including regulatory processes and
the availability of construction resources. If the
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establishment of highly diverse Internet connectivity to our IBX hubs does not occur or is materially delayed or is discontinued, our operating results and cash flow will be
adversely affected. Further, many carriers are experiencing business difficulties. As a result, some carriers may be forced to terminate connectivity within our IBX hubs.
 

We have service level commitment obligations to certain of our customers. As a result, service interruptions or significant equipment damage in our IBX hubs, whether
or not within our control, could result in service level commitments to these customers. Our liability insurance may not be adequate to cover those expenses. In addition, any
loss of services, equipment damage or inability to meet our service level commitment obligations, particularly in the early stage of our development, could reduce the
confidence of our customers and could consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adversely affect both our ability to generate revenues and
our operating results.
 
Any failure of our physical infrastructure or services could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenue and harm our business reputation
and financial results.
 

Our business depends on providing customers with highly reliable service. We must protect customers’ IBX infrastructure and customers’ equipment located in our IBX
hubs. The services we provide are subject to failure resulting from numerous factors, including:
 
 •  human error;
 
 •  physical or electronic security breaches;
 
 •  fire, earthquake, flood and other natural disasters;
 
 •  water damage;
 
 •  power loss;
 
 •  sabotage and vandalism; and
 
 •  failure of business partners who provide the combined company’s resale products.
 

Problems at one or more of our IBX hubs, whether or not within our control, could result in service interruptions or significant equipment damage. In the past, a limited
number of our customers have experienced temporary losses of power and failure of our services levels on products such as bandwidth connectivity. If we incur significant
financial commitments to our customers in connection with a loss of power, or our failure to meet other service level commitment obligations, our liability insurance may not be
adequate to cover those expenses. In addition, any loss of services, equipment damage or inability to meet our service level commitment obligations, particularly in the early
stage of our development, could reduce the confidence of our customers and could consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adversely affect
both our ability to generate revenues and our operating results.
 

Furthermore, we will be dependent upon internet service providers, telecommunications carriers and other website operators in the U.S., Asia and elsewhere, some of
which may have experienced significant system failures and electrical outages in the past. Users of our services may in the future experience difficulties due to system failures
unrelated to our systems and services. If for any reason, these providers failed to provide the required services, our business, financial condition and results of operations could
be materially adversely impacted.
 

A portion of the managed services business we acquired in the combination involves the processing and storage of confidential customer information. Inappropriate use
of those services could jeopardize the security of customers’ confidential information causing losses of data or financially impacting us or our customers. Efforts
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to alleviate problems caused by computer viruses or other inappropriate uses or security breaches may lead to interruptions, delays or cessation of our managed services.
 

There is no known prevention or defense against denial of service attacks. During a prolonged denial of service attack, the Internet service will not be available for
several hours, thus impacting hosted customers on-line business transactions. Affected customers might file claims against us under such circumstances.
 

To the extent a failure of our physical infrastructure, services, or services provided by service providers results in decreased revenues, we may not be able to comply with
covenants in our credit facility. If we are unable to comply with covenants in our credit facility, the banks may require repayment of all outstanding amounts, and we do not
have sufficient cash reserves to repay those amounts.
 
Our business could be harmed by prolonged electrical power outages or shortages, increased costs of energy or general availability of electrical resources.
 

Our IBX hubs are susceptible to regional costs of power, electrical power shortages, planned or unplanned power outages caused by these shortages, such as those that
occurred in California during 2001, and limitations, especially internationally, of adequate power resources. The overall power shortage in California has increased the cost of
energy, which we may not be able to pass on to our customers. We attempt to limit exposure to system downtime by using backup generators and power supplies. Power
outages, which last beyond our backup and alternative power arrangements, could harm our customers and our business.
 
We may experience service interruptions, loss of customers and drain on resources if we are unable to renew our facility leases.
 

We have several short-term leases on our IBX hubs that are located outside of North America. For example, we currently lease approximately 86,100 square feet for our
facility in Singapore, of which approximately 71,900 square feet expire in July 2003. Upon its expiration, we may not be able to renew our leases under reasonable terms, if at
all and may have to relocate our IBX hubs to other facilities. A relocation of any IBX hub could result in service interruptions and significant additional expenses. In addition,
seeking a new facility could divert management’s attention and our resources.
 
We may make acquisitions, which pose integration and other risks that could harm our business.
 

We may seek to acquire complementary businesses, products, services and technologies. As a result of these acquisitions, we may be required to incur additional debt
and expenditures and issue additional shares of our stock to pay for the acquired business, product, service or technology, which will dilute existing stockholders’ ownership
interest in the combined company. In addition, if we fail to successfully integrate and manage acquired businesses, products, services and technologies, our business and
financial results would be harmed.
 
We are subject to securities class action litigation, which may harm our business and results of operations.
 

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following periods of volatility in the market price of its securities. During the
quarter ended September 30, 2001, putative shareholder class action lawsuits were filed against us, a number of our officers and directors, and several investment banks that
were underwriters of our initial public offering. The suits allege that the underwriter defendants agreed to allocate stock in our initial public offering to certain investors in
exchange for excessive and undisclosed commissions and agreements by those investors to make additional purchases in the aftermarket at pre-determined prices. Plaintiffs
allege that the prospectus for our initial public offering was false and misleading and in violation of the securities laws because it did not disclose these arrangements. The
defense of this litigation may increase our expenses and divert management’s attention and resources. An adverse outcome in this litigation could seriously harm our business
and results of operations. In addition, we may, in the future, be subject to other securities class action or similar litigation.
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Risks related to our Industry
 
If the economy does not improve and the use of the Internet and electronic business does not grow, our revenues may not grow.
 

Acceptance and use of the Internet may not continue to develop at historical rates and a sufficiently broad base of consumers may not adopt or continue to use the
Internet and other online services as a medium of commerce. Demand for Internet services and products are subject to a high level of uncertainty and are subject to significant
pricing pressure, especially in Asia-Pacific. In addition, even if consumers do adopt and continue to use online services, we do not expect a significant increase in revenues until
the economy begins to improve generally. As a result, we cannot be certain that a viable market for our IBX hubs will materialize. If the market for our IBX hubs grows more
slowly than we currently anticipate, our revenues will not grow and our operating results will suffer. If we cannot grow revenues while reducing costs, we may not be able to
comply with the covenants in our credit facility. If we breach the credit facility, the banks could require repayment of all amounts previously drawn down and we do not have
sufficient cash reserves to repay such amounts.
 
Government regulation may adversely affect the use of the Internet and our business.
 

Various laws and governmental regulations governing Internet related services, related communications services and information technologies, and electronic commerce
remain largely unsettled, even in areas where there has been some legislative action. This is true both in the U.S. and the various foreign countries in which we now operate. It
may take years to determine whether and how existing laws, such as those governing intellectual property, privacy, libel, telecommunications services, and taxation, apply to the
Internet and to related services such as ours. The combined company has little experience with such international regulatory issues and substantial resources of the company
may be required to comply with regulations or bring any non-complaint business practices into compliance with such regulations. In addition, the development of the market for
online commerce and the displacement of traditional telephony service by the Internet and related communications services may prompt increased call for more stringent
consumer protection laws or other regulation both in the U.S. and abroad, that may impose additional burdens on companies conducting business online and their services
providers. The compliance with, adoption of or modification of laws or regulations relating to the Internet, or interpretations of the existing law, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.
 
Recent terrorist activity throughout the world and military action to counter terrorism could adversely impact our business.
 

The September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks in the U.S., the ensuing declaration of war on terrorism and the continued threat of terrorist activity and other acts of war or
hostility appear to be having an adverse effect on business, financial and general economic conditions internationally. These effects may, in turn, result in increased costs due to
the need to provide enhanced security, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These circumstances may also adversely affect our
ability to attract and retain customers, our ability to raise capital and the operation and maintenance of our IBX hubs.
 
The recent outbreak of SARS in the Asia-Pacific region and its continued spread could harm sales of our products.
 

The recent outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome, or SARS, that began in China, Hong Kong, Singapore and Vietnam may have a negative impact on our
business. Our business may be impacted by a number of SARS-related factors, including, but not limited to, disruptions in the operations of our IBX hubs in affected areas
including Hong Kong and Singapore, disruptions in the operations of our customers and their partners, reduced sales in certain end-markets, and increased costs to conduct our
business abroad. If the number of cases of SARS continues to rise or spread to other areas, including the United States, our business could potentially be harmed.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In May 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”
(“SFAS 145”). SFAS 145 rescinds the
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automatic treatment of gains or losses from extinguishment of debt as extraordinary unless they meet the criteria for extraordinary items as outlined in APB Opinion No. 30,
“Reporting the Results of Operations, Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions.” In addition, SFAS 145 also requires sale-leaseback accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are similar to sale-leaseback
transactions and makes various technical corrections to existing pronouncements. SFAS 145 is effective for us for all financial statements issued in fiscal 2003; however, as
allowed under the provisions of SFAS 145, we decided to early adopt SFAS 145 in relation to extinguishments of debt for the year ended December 31, 2002. As a result of the
early adoption of SFAS 145, the gains on debt extinguishment that we realized in 2002 from the extinguishment of senior notes during the year were not reported as
extraordinary transactions.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”). SFAS 146 requires that a liability for
a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS 146 eliminates the definition and requirement for recognition of exit costs
in Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3 where a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. This statement is effective
for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company will adopt the provisions of SFAS 146 during the first quarter of 2003. We do not believe that the
adoption of this statement will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
 

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees
of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 requires a guarantor to recognize a liability for obligations it has undertaken in relation to the issuance of a guarantee in addition
to providing additional disclosures on such guarantees. The liability would be recorded at fair value on the date the guarantee is issued. The disclosure requirements of FIN 45
are effective for the interim and annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 are effective after December 31, 2002.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company adopted the disclosure requirements of FIN 45. We are currently evaluating the effects of the liability measurement provisions of FIN
45 on our financial statements commencing in fiscal 2003.
 

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21”).
EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use assets. The
provisions of EITF 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. We are currently assessing the impact of the adoption
of this pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.
 

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an Amendment of SFAS No. 123”
(“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148 encourages the adoption of the accounting provisions of SFAS 123 and requires additional disclosure, including in interim financial statements, for all
companies regardless of whether or not they adopt the accounting provisions of SFAS 123. This statement was effective for our fiscal 2002 Annual Report on Form 10-K and
the new interim disclosure provisions are effective for the first quarter of 2003.
 

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” FIN 46
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties.
FIN 46 is effective immediately for all new variable interest entities created or acquired after January 31, 2003. For variable interest entities created or acquired prior to
February 1, 2003, the provisions of FIN 46 must be applied for the first interim or annual period beginning after June 15, 2003. We are currently assessing the impact of the
pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.
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 FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

This prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Statements
contained in this Prospectus or incorporated by reference herein that are not purely historical are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act and Section 21E of the 1934 Act, including statements regarding Equinix’s financial outlook, competitive position, business strategies, expectations, beliefs,
intentions or other strategies regarding the future. All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information available to Equinix on the date hereof,
and Equinix assumes no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Equinix’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth in this prospectus under “Risk Factors.” You should carefully consider the risks
described in the “Risk Factors” section, in addition to the other information set forth in this prospectus and incorporated by reference herein, before making an investment
decision.
 

 USE OF PROCEEDS
 

All net proceeds from the sale of Equinix common stock will go to the stockholders that offer and sell their shares. Accordingly, Equinix will not receive any proceeds
from the sale of the shares by the selling stockholders.
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 SELLING STOCKHOLDERS
 

The following table sets forth certain information, as of June 27, 2003, with respect to the number of shares of common stock owned by the selling stockholders named
below and as adjusted to give effect to the sale of the shares offered hereby. The shares are being registered to permit public secondary trading of the shares, and the selling
stockholders may offer the shares for resale from time to time. See “Plan of Distribution.”
 

The shares being offered by the selling stockholders were acquired from Equinix in our acquisitions of  i-STT Pte Ltd and Pihana Pacific, Inc., pursuant to a combination
agreement signed on October 2, 2002. We call this transaction the combination. The shares of common stock were issued pursuant to an exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act.
 

Equinix has filed with the SEC, under the Securities Act, a registration statement on Form S-3, of which this prospectus forms a part, with respect to the resale of the
shares from time to time on The Nasdaq National Market or in privately-negotiated transactions. Equinix has agreed to use its best efforts to keep such registration statement
effective until the earlier of such time as (i) all the shares have been sold or (ii) any portion of the shares may be sold under Rule 144 of the Securities Act.
 

Some of the selling stockholders listed below may distribute their respective shares to their general or limited partners. Any shares so distributed may be offered
hereunder by the general or limited partners of the distributing selling stockholders. Each general or limited partner distribute will be deemed to be a selling stockholder for
purposes of this prospectus with respect to the distributed shares.
 

The Shares offered by this prospectus may be offered from time to time by the selling stockholders named below:
 

   

Shares Beneficially
Owned Prior to Offering

     

Shares Beneficially
Owned After the

Offering*

 

Name and Address of Selling Stockholders**

  

Number of
Shares

  

Percent***

  

Number of
Shares

Being Offered

  

Number of
Shares

  

Percent

 
i-STT Investments Pte. Ltd.(1)(2) 51 Cuppage Road #10-11/17

Starhub Center
Singapore 229469   

5,332,790

  

40%

 

2,953,353(3)

 

2,379,437

  

17.85%

Columbia PIXC Partners, LLC(4)(5)
201 North Union Street,
Suite 300
Alexandria, VA 22314   

96,166

  

* 

 

96,166 

 

0

  

—   

Columbia Capital Equity Partners II (QP), L.P.(4)(6)
201 North Union Street
Suite 300
Alexandria, VA 22314   

91,024

  

* 

 

91,024 

 

0

  

—   

Columbia PIXC Partners III, LLC(4)(7)
201 North Union Street
Suite 300
Alexandria, VA 22314   

310,824

  

3%

 

310,824 

 

0

  

—   

Rich Kalbrener(8)
1015 Wilder Avenue #205
Honolulu, HI 96822   

1,736

  

* 

 

1,736 

 

0

  

—   
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Shares Beneficially
Owned Prior to Offering

       

Shares Beneficially
Owned After the

Offering*

Name and Address of Selling Stockholders**

  

Number of
Shares

  

Percent***

  

Number of
Shares

Being Offered

    

Number of
Shares

  

Percent

Alexander Good(9)
5303 Westridge Drive
Boulder, CO 80301   

694

  

* 

 

694

    

0

  

—  

GS Capital Partners 2000 L.P.(10)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

287,500

  

2.77%

 

287,500

    

0

  

—  

GS Capital Partners 2000 Offshore, L.P.(11) 85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

104,466
  

1.01%
 

104,466
    

0
  

—  

GS Capital Partners 2000 GmbH & Co(12)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

12,017

  

* 

 

12,017

    

0

  

—  

GS Capital Partners 2000 Employee Fund L.P.(13)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

91,347

  

* 

 

91,347

    

0

  

—  

Stone St Fund 2000, L.P.(14)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

26,070

  

* 

 

26,070

    

0

  

—  

GS Special Opportunities (Asia) Fund, L.P.(15) 85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

147,688
  

1.42%
 

147,688
    

0
  

—  

GS Special Opportunities (Asia) Offshore Fund, L.P.(16)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

107,668

  

1.04%

 

107,668

    

0

  

—  

Whitehall Street Real Estate Limited Partnership XIII(17)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

173,943

  

1.68%

 

173,943

    

0

  

—  

Whitehall Parallel Real Estate Limited Partnership XIII(18)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

60,687

  

* 

 

60,687

    

0

  

—  

Stone St Asia Fund, L.P.(19)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

5,343

  

* 

 

5,343

    

0

  

—  

Stone Street Real Estate Fund 2000, L.P.(20)
85 Broad Street
New York, NY 10004   

26,070

  

* 

 

26,070

    

0

  

—  

Morgan Stanley Global Emerging Markets Private Investment Fund,
LP(21)
1221 Avenue of the Americas—33rd Floor New York, NY 10020   

245,742

  

2.37%

 

245,742

    

0

  

—  

 
17



Table of Contents

   

Shares Beneficially
Owned Prior to Offering

       

Shares Beneficially
Owned After the

Offering*

Name and Address of Selling Stockholders**

  

Number of
Shares

  

Percent***

  

Number of
Shares

Being Offered

    

Number of
Shares

  

Percent

Morgan Stanley Emerging Markets
Private Investors, L.P.(22)
1221 Avenue of the Americas—33rd Floor New York, NY 10020   

14,957

  

* 

 

14,957

    

0

  

—  

Morgan Stanley Dean Witter Equity Funding, Inc.(23)
1585 Broadway
New York NY 10020   

52,140

  

* 

 

52,140

    

0

  

—  

UBS Capital Asia Pacific Limited(24)
25/F One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place
Central Hong Kong   

208,560

  

2.01%

 

208,560

    

0

  

—  

Hewlett Packard(25)
3000 Hanover Street
Mailstop 20BQ
Palo Alto, CA 94304   

52,140

  

* 

 

52,140

    

0

  

—  

LT III LLC(26)
9785 Maroon Circle
Suite 360
Englewood, CO 80112   

104,280

  

1.03%

 

104,280

    

0

  

—  

Mori Building Co. LTD(27)
12-32 Akasaka 1-Chrome
Minato-Ku
Tokyo 107-6090 Japan   

52,140

  

* 

 

52,140

    

0

  

—  

GPSF-F Inc., an indirect subsidiary of
    General Electric Company(28)

120 Long Ridge Road
Stamford, CT 06927   

104,280

  

1.01%

 

104,280

    

0

  

—  

Nifco Inc.(29)
Japan Time Nifco Building,
4-5-4 Shibura
Minato-Ku
Tokyo 108-8522 Japan   

10,428

  

* 

 

10,428

    

0

  

—  

PacificCap Investment Partners II, LLC(30)
1132 Bishop St. #1810
Honolulu HI 96813   

26,904

  

* 

 

26,904

    

0

  

—  

White & Case Solicitors(31)
9th Floor, Glouster Towers
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street
Hong Kong   

1,043

  

* 

 

1,043

    

0

  

—  

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati(32)
650 Page Mill Road
Palo Alto, CA 94304   

261

  

* 

 

261

    

0

  

—  

Brooks Entwistle(33)
Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC
68th Floor, Cheung Kong Center
2 Queens Road Central, Hong Kong   

261

  

* 

 

261

    

0

  

—  

TOTAL   7,359,948  —  5,369,732    0  —  
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*  Less than 1%.
**  Assumes sale of all the shares offered; however, the selling stockholders may or may not sell all or any of the offered shares.
***  Includes limited partners, donees and pledgees selling shares that are received from a named selling stockholder.
(1)  Lee Theng Kiat and Jean Mandeville are the President and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte. Ltd., which controls i-STT

Investments Pte. Ltd. and are current directors of Equinix.
(2)  Includes 1,084,686 shares of common stock and 1,868,667 shares of common stock that may be acquired upon conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the

“Series A Preferred Stock,” owned by i-STT Investments Pte. Ltd., “i-STTI.” Also includes 2,379,437 shares that may be acquired within 60 days of March 31, 2003 upon
conversion of Series A-1 Convertible Secured Notes, the “Notes”, or upon the exercise of Series A-1 Preferred Stock Warrants, the “Warrants”, owned of record by i-
STTI. As more fully described in our definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 12, 2002 and subject to the
qualifications described therein, until December 31, 2004, STT and its affiliates may not convert the Notes or exercise the Warrants for shares of our voting stock if such
conversion or exercise would cause i-STTI, when combined with shares beneficially held by its affiliates, to beneficially hold more than 40% of our outstanding voting
stock. Accordingly, the Notes and Warrants are convertible into or exercisable for shares of common stock or Series A Preferred Stock only to the extent that such
exchange will not cause i-STTI or its affiliates to exceed the 40% threshold. If such conversion or exercise would cause i-STTI or its affiliates to exceed the 40% threshold,
the Notes and Warrants become convertible or exercisable for shares of non-voting Series A-1 Preferred Stock.

(3)  Includes 1,868,667 shares of common stock underlying shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued to i-STTI on December 31, 2002. Shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock must be converted to common stock prior to any sale pursuant to this registration statement.

(4)  Following registration of these shares, some or all of these shares may be distributed pro rata among the general partner and limited partners of Columbia PIXC Partners
III, L.L.C., Columbia PIXC Partners, L.L.C. and Columbia Capital Equity Partners (QP), L.P. Harry F. Hopper III, a member of Equinix’s Board of Directors, is a
managing member of Columbia PIXC Partners III.

(5)  Includes 14,413 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(6)  Includes 13,642 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(7)  Includes 46,585 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(8)  Includes 260 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(9)  Includes 104 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(10)  Includes 43,090 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(11)  Includes 15,657 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(12)  Includes 1,801 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(13)  Includes 13,691 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(14)  Includes 3,907 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(15)  Includes 22,135 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
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(16)  Includes 16,137 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(17)  Includes 26,070 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(18)  Includes 9,096 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(19)  Includes 801 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(20)  Includes 3,907 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(21)  Includes 36,831 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(22)  Includes 2,242 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(23)  Includes 7,815 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(24)  Includes 31,258 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(25)  Includes 7,815 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(26)  Includes 15,629 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(27)  Includes 7,815 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(28)  Includes 15,629 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(29)  Includes 1,563 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(30)  Includes 4,032 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(31)  Includes 156 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(32)  Includes 39 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
(33)  Includes 39 shares of common stock held in escrow in connection with the original issuance of the shares pursuant to the combination.
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 PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION
 

The term “selling stockholders,” as used in this prospectus, includes limited partners, donees and pledgees selling shares that are received from a named selling
stockholder.
 

The shares covered by this prospectus may be sold by the selling stockholders or their transferees, distributes, pledges, donees or other successors in interest at various
times in one or more of the following transactions:
 
 •  In the over-the-counter market;
 
 •  On the Nasdaq National Market;
 
 •  In privately negotiated transactions; or
 
 •  In a combination of any of the above transactions.
 

The selling stockholders may sell their shares at market prices prevailing at the time of the sale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices, at negotiated prices or
at fixed prices.
 

The selling stockholders may use broker-dealers to sell their shares. If this happens, broker-dealers will either receive discounts or commissions from the selling
stockholders, or they will receive commissions from purchasers of shares for whom they acted as agents.
 

 LEGAL MATTERS
 

The legality of the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for Equinix by Gunderson Dettmer Stough Villeneuve Franklin & Hachigian, LLP, Menlo Park,
California.
 

 EXPERTS
 

The consolidated financial statements of Equinix, Inc. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002
incorporated in this Registration Statement on Form S-3 by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 have been so incorporated in
reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.
 

The consolidated financial statements of Pihana Pacific, Inc. as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2001
and for the period from June 11, 1999 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999 included in this Registration Statement on Form S-3 in reliance on the report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.
 

 WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
 

We file annual, quarterly and special reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we file with the SEC at the
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the Public Reference
Rooms. Our SEC filings are also available to the public from the SEC’s website at  “http://www.sec.gov.”
 

The SEC allows us to “incorporate by reference” the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to
those documents. The information incorporated by
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reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We incorporate by
reference the documents listed below and any future filings we will make with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:
 
 1.  Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 27, 2003, as amended on April 25, 2003.
 
 2.  Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2003, filed on May 15, 2003.
 
 3.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed January 2, 2003.
 
 4.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed January 2, 2003.
 
 5.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed March 5, 2003.
 
 6.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 1, 2003.
 
 7.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May 13, 2003.
 
 8.  Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 9, 2003.
 
 9.  A description of Equinix common stock is contained in Equinix’s registration statement prospectus, filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) on August 11, 2000.
 

You may request, and we will provide you with, a copy of these filings, at no cost, by calling us at (650) 513-7000 or by writing to us at the following address:
 

Equinix, Inc.
301 Velocity Way, Fifth Floor

Foster City, CA 94404
Attn: Investor Relations
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

 
The following unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations has been prepared to give effect to the combination of Equinix, Inc.

(“Equinix” or the “Company”), Pihana Pacific, Inc. (“Pihana”) and i-STT Pte Ltd (“i-STT”) using the purchase method of accounting (the “Combination”) and the assumptions
and adjustments described in the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations, including an investment in the
Company by i-STT’s parent company, STT Communications Ltd (“STT Communications”) (the “Financing”), and further reductions in amounts outstanding under both the
Senior Notes and the Amended and Restated Credit Facility. The above noted transactions, specifically, the Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange, occurred on
December 31, 2002. However, this pro forma statement of operations was prepared as if the Combination and related transactions had been completed as of December 31, 2001.
Equinix continues to operate under the existing Equinix senior management team with Peter Van Camp as CEO and is headquartered in Foster City, California.
 

The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the
financial position that would have actually been reported had the Combination, Financing and further reductions in amounts outstanding under both the Senior Notes and the
Amended and Restated Credit Facility, occurred as of December 31, 2001 for statement of operations purposes, nor is it necessarily indicative of the future financial position.
The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations includes adjustments, which are based upon preliminary estimates, to reflect the allocation
of the purchase price to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities of i-STT and Pihana, including intangible assets acquired in connection with i-STT. Any change in the fair
value of the net assets of i-STT and Pihana will likely change the amount of the purchase price allocable to goodwill for i-STT and property and equipment for Pihana.
 

This unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations is based upon the respective historical unaudited consolidated statement of
operations of Equinix and Pihana and the historical unaudited consolidated statement of operations of i-STT, adjusted to generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America, and should be read in conjunction with the historical consolidated financial statements of Equinix, i-STT and Pihana and related notes and “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contained in the definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) on December 12, 2002.
 

Although i-STT is not significant under SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-05, we have included i-STT’s results of operations in the accompanying unaudited pro forma
information because the Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange were consummated in conjunction with each other and we believe that the inclusion of i-STT is
meaningful to the understanding of the Company’s pro forma results of operations.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
 

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

   
Equinix

 

 Historical
Pihana

 

 
i-STT

 

  

Pro Forma

 

       

Adjustments

  

Combined

 
Revenues   $ 77,188  $ 4,961  $ 11,113   $ (112)(a) $ 93,150 
        
Costs and operating expenses:                       

Cost of revenues    104,073   30,354   11,633    (13,014)(b)  133,046 
Sales and marketing    15,247   6,484   1,585    2,100(c)   25,416 
General and administrative    30,659   9,815   4,185    (1,171)(d)  43,488 
Restructuring and impairment charges    28,885   113,297   —      (101,683)(e)  40,499 

        
Total costs and operating expenses    178,864   159,950   17,403    (113,768)   242,449 

Loss from operations    (101,676)   (154,989)   (6,290)    113,656   (149,299)
Interest income    998   1,608   17    (4)(f)   2,619 
Interest expense    (35,098)   (200)   (386)    13,656(g)   (22,028)
Gain on debt extinguishments    114,158   —     —      (114,158)(h)  —   
Equity in losses of affiliates    —     —     (867)    —     (867)
Taxes    —     242   —      —     242 
Other    —     4,869   (490)    (5,254)(i)   (875)
        
Net loss   $ (21,618)  $ (148,470)  $ (8,016)   $ 7,896  $ (170,208)
        
Net loss per share—basic and diluted   $ (7.23)               $ (20.39)
                 
Shares used in per share calculation—basic and diluted    2,990            5,358(j)   8,348 
              
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this
unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations.
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EQUINIX, INC.
 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

 
The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations included herein has been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the

Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information and certain footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations; however, management believes that the
disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.
 
1.    BASIS OF PRO FORMA PRESENTATION
 

On October 2, 2002, the Company entered into a combination agreement (the “Combination Agreement”) to purchase all of the issued and outstanding stock of i-STT, a
wholly-owned Internet infrastructure services subsidiary of STT Communications, in exchange for $10,000 and approximately 3.0 million shares of common and preferred
stock, representing approximately 27.5% of the modified fully diluted share amount at closing and Pihana, a leading provider of neutral Internet exchange data center services
and managed e-infrastructure services in Asia-Pacific, in exchange for $10,000 and approximately 2.4 million shares of common stock, or approximately 22.5% of the modified
fully diluted share amount. These acquisitions are herein referred to as the “Combination”. The Combination was completed on December 31, 2002. The combined company
continues to operate under the Equinix name and management. Separately, STT Communications made a $30.0 million strategic investment in the Company in the form of
convertible secured notes with detachable warrants for the further issuance of approximately 1.0 million shares of stock. This transaction is herein referred to as the “Financing”.
The Financing was completed on December 31, 2002. Equinix accounted for the Combination under the purchase method of accounting. In addition to giving effect to the
Combination and Financing, this pro forma statement of operations has been adjusted to present the impact of the Senior Note Exchange and further reduction in the Amended
and Restated Credit Facility discussed below. The Senior Note Exchange and further reduction in the Amended and Restated Credit Facility were also completed on December
31, 2002.
 

The parties to the transaction considered the guidance provided in paragraph 17 of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 141, Business Combinations and
determined that Equinix was the acquiring entity in the combination. This determination was based on a number of factors including the fact that the former Equinix
stockholders will have the largest voting percentage of the outstanding stock. Following the issuance of common and redeemable preferred shares by Equinix in the
Combination, the former Equinix stockholders have a 51.0% voting interest in the combined entity. In addition, Equinix is the larger entity and its current management team
continues to run the day-to-day operations of the combined company, no party controls a majority of the board of directors and the combined company continues to operate
under the Equinix name and is headquartered in Foster City, California.
 

In connection with the Combination, Equinix issued $30 million in the form of a convertible secured note, which is convertible into the Company’s capital stock on a one
for one basis. This note issued to STT Communications shall initially be convertible into shares of preferred stock at any time at the holder’s option. There are two classes of
preferred stock, Series A and Series A-1. Series A preferred stock is convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into common stock of Equinix up to the point at which
(a) STT Communications has a 40% voting interest in Equinix or (b) the value of voting interests held by STT Communications exceeds $50 million. Thereafter, conversion of
the convertible secured note will result in the issuance of Series A-1, non-voting preferred shares. While STT Communications is able to convert their note at any time after the
closing,
there are a number of factors, in addition to the anticipated premium built into the conversion price, that suggest that this note will not be converted into equity. These include
the fact that:
 
 •  the holder of the convertible secured note will enjoy the priority position of debt over equity;
 
 •  the holder of the convertible secured note will receive interest at the rate of 14% per annum, initially payable in PIK Notes (see Note 4—Financing) semi-annually in

arrears, on the unpaid principal balance;
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EQUINIX, INC.
 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 
 •  the convertible secured note held is secured by the Asia-Pacific operations of the combined company, thereby providing security; and
 
 •  the combined company will have approximately $82.5 million of debt due during 2005.
 

As a result of these factors, management does not expect the holder of the convertible secured note to convert voluntarily prior to maturity. In the event debt securities
are converted and STT Communications’ voting interest is maximized (at 40%), Equinix would hold a 42.7% voting interest, STT Communications 40% and Pihana 17.3%.
 

In connection with the Combination and Financing, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Facility. The most significant
terms and conditions of this amendment are:
 
 •  The Company was granted a full waiver of previous covenant breaches and was granted consent to use cash in connection with the Senior Note Exchange (see Note 5

—Senior Note Exchange).
 
 •  Future revenue and EBITDA covenants were eliminated and the remaining minimum cash balance and maximum capital expenditure covenants and other ratios were

reset consistent with the expected future performance of the combined Company for the remaining term of the loan.
 
 •  The Company permanently repaid $8.5 million of the then currently outstanding $100.0 million balance bringing the total amount owed under this facility to $91.5

million.
 
 •  The amortization schedule for the Credit Facility was amended such that the minimum amortization due in 2003-2004 was significantly reduced.
 

Also in connection with the Combination, Financing and further amendment to the Credit Facility, the Company obtained agreements from the holders of a large
percentage of its outstanding Senior Notes whereby such holders agreed to tender their Senior Notes to the Company for a combination of cash and common stock and to amend
the terms of the Senior Notes. This transaction is herein referred to as the “Senior Note Exchange”.
 

Furthermore, in connection with the Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange transactions described above, in order to comply with the requirements of the
Nasdaq National Market, the Company initiated a 32 for 1 reverse stock split, which also took effect on December 31, 2002. All share and per share amounts have been
adjusted to give effect to the stock split.
 

The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 was prepared by combining the historical
unaudited consolidated condensed statement of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2002 for Equinix and Pihana and the historical consolidated statement of
operations data of i-STT, as adjusted to comply with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, as if the Combination and related transactions had been
consummated on December 31, 2001.
 
2.  PURCHASE PRICE—PIHANA
 

On December 31, 2002, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company merged with and into Pihana (the “Pihana Acquisition”). Pihana is a similar business to that of
Equinix with IBX hub operations in Singapore; Tokyo, Japan; Sydney, Australia; Hong Kong, China, as well as Los Angeles and Honolulu in the U.S. The entire purchase price
of $28,376,000 was comprised of (i) 2,416,379 shares of the Company’s common stock, with a
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EQUINIX, INC.
 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 
total value of $25,517,000, (ii) total cash consideration and direct transaction costs of $2,701,000 and (iii) the value of Pihana shareholder warrants assumed in the Pihana
Acquisition of $176,000 (the “Pihana Shareholder Warrants”). The fair market value of the Company’s stock issued was determined using the five-trading-day average price of
the Company’s common stock surrounding the date the transaction was announced in October 2002. The fair value of the Pihana Shareholder Warrants, which represent the
right to purchase 133,442 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $191.81 per share, was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and
the following assumptions: fair market value per share of $5.70, dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 135%, risk-free interest rate of 4% and a contractual life of
approximately 3 years.
 

The preliminary purchase price, including direct merger costs, have been allocated to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair value at the
date of acquisition. The estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed is summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

Cash and cash equivalents   $33,341 
Accounts receivable    754 
Other current assets    1,773 
Property and equipment    5,691 
Restricted cash    927 
Other assets    2,329 
   

Total assets acquired    44,815 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (3,455)
Accrued restructuring charges and transaction fees    (9,470)
Other current liabilities    (42)
Capital lease obligations    (1,536)
Other liabilities    (1,936)
   

Net assets acquired   $28,376 
   

 
The Company accounted for the Pihana Acquisition using the purchase method. Included in the net liabilities assumed are total restructuring charges of $9,470,000,

which relate primarily to the exit of the undeveloped portion of the Pihana Los Angeles IBX hub leasehold, severance related to an approximate 30% reduction in workforce,
including several officers of Pihana and some transaction-related professional fees. A substantial portion of these costs were paid in January 2003. Prior to December 31, 2002,
Pihana sold their Korean IBX hub operations, which was excluded from the Pihana Acquisition, terminated or amended several operating leaseholds and recorded a substantial
impairment charge against the value of their property and equipment assumed in the Pihana Acquisition. While the Company does not expect there will be any changes to the
Company’s preliminary purchase price due to any unknown contingent liabilities or purchase price adjustments, any subsequent adjustment to the purchase price would likely
result in a change to the amount of property and equipment assumed in the Pihana Acquisition.
 

There were no historical transactions between Equinix and Pihana. Certain reclassifications have been made to conform Pihana’s historical amounts to Equinix’s
financial statement presentation.
 

The pro forma adjustments do not reflect any integration adjustments such as restructuring costs to be incurred in connection with the merger or operating efficiencies
and cost savings that may be achieved with respect to the combined entity as these costs are not directly attributable to the purchase agreement.
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EQUINIX, INC.
 

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 
3.    PURCHASE PRICE—i-STT
 

On December 31, 2002, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company acquired all issued and outstanding shares of i-STT from STT Communications (the “i-STT
Acquisition”). i-STT is a similar business to that of Equinix with IBX hub operations in Singapore and Thailand. The entire purchase price of $34,365,000 was comprised of (i)
1,868,666 shares of the Company’s Series A preferred stock and 1,084,686 shares of the Company’s common stock, with a total value of $31,187,000 and (ii) total cash
consideration and direct transaction costs of $3,178,000.
 

The fair value of the Company’s stock issued was determined using the five-trading-day average price of the Company’s common stock surrounding the date the
transaction was announced in October 2002. The Company determined that the fair value of the Series A preferred stock and the common stock was the same because the
material rights, preferences and privileges of Series A preferred stock and the common stock are virtually identical.
 

The preliminary purchase price, including direct merger costs, have been allocated to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The Company retained the services of an independent valuation expert to assist with the determination of the fair value of the
intangible assets. The estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed is summarized as follows (in thousands):
 

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,699 
Accounts receivable    1,307 
Other current assets    197 
Property and equipment    10,824 
Intangible asset—customer contracts    3,600 
Intangible asset—tradename    300 
Intangible asset—goodwill    21,081 
Other assets    100 
   

Total assets acquired    39,108 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (4,153)
Accrued restructuring charges    (400)
Other current liabilities    (190)
   

Net assets acquired   $34,365 
   

 
The Company accounted for the i-STT Acquisition using the purchase method. The customer contracts intangible asset will have a useful life of two years, the typical

term of a customer contract, and the tradename intangible asset will have a useful life of one year, the contractual period under the Combination Agreement. Included in the net
liabilities assumed, is an accrual of $400,000 representing the estimated costs to exit from an undeveloped IBX hub leasehold interest in Shanghai, China. The Company
expects to exit this lease in 2003. While the Company does not expect there will be any changes to the Company’s preliminary purchase price due to any unknown contingent
liabilities or purchase price adjustments, any subsequent adjustment to the purchase price would likely result in a change to the amount of goodwill carried on the balance sheet.
 

There were no historical transactions between Equinix and i-STT. Certain reclassifications have been made to conform i-STT’s historical amounts to Equinix’s financial
statement presentation.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 
The pro forma adjustments do not reflect any integration adjustments such as restructuring costs to be incurred in connection with the merger or operating efficiencies

and cost savings that may be achieved with respect to the combined entity as these costs are not directly attributable to the purchase agreement.
 
4.    FINANCING
 

In conjunction with the Combination, STT Communications made a $30.0 million strategic investment in the Company in the form of a convertible secured notes (the
“Convertible Secured Note”) with a detachable warrant for the further issuance of 965,674 shares of preferred stock (the “Convertible Secured Note Warrant”), valued at
$4,646,000 (the “Financing”). The Convertible Secured Note bears non-cash interest at an interest rate of 14% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and has an initial
term of five years. Interest on the Convertible Secured Note will be payable in kind in the form of additional convertible secured notes having a principal amount equal to the
amount of interest then due having terms which are identical to the terms of the Convertible Secured Note (the “PIK Notes”). The Convertible Secured Note and Convertible
Secured Note Warrant cannot be converted into shares of voting stock for a two-year period, except under certain limited circumstances as defined in the agreements.
Notwithstanding this, STT Communication’s voting ownership is limited to 40% of the outstanding shares of the combined company.
 

The Convertible Secured Note Warrant was valued at $4,646,000. The fair value of the Convertible Secured Note Warrant was calculated under the provisions of APB
14 and determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model under the following assumptions: contractual life of five years, risk-free interest rate of 4%, expected volatility
of 135% and no expected dividend yield. The Company has considered the guidance in EITF Abstract No. 98-5, “Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial
Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable Conversion Ratios”, and has determined that the Convertible Secured Note does not contain a beneficial conversion feature as
the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of issuance, was less than the stock conversion ratio outlined in the agreement. The allocated value to the Convertible
Secured Note Warrant of $4,646,000 will be amortized using the effective interest rate method to interest expense over the five-year term of the Convertible Secured Note.
 

As the PIK Notes have terms that are identical to the terms of the Convertible Secured Note, the PIK Notes may have a beneficial conversion feature. Any beneficial
conversion feature associated with the PIK Notes, which will be issued semi-annually, would result in an incremental charge to the Company’s interest expense over the term of
the Convertible Secured Note and PIK Notes.
 

The costs related to the Financing of approximately $575,000 were capitalized and are being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method, over the
life of the Convertible Secured Note.
 
5.     SENIOR NOTE EXCHANGE
 

In December 2002, the Company, in connection with, and as a condition to closing the Combination and Financing, initiated an exchange offer to substantially reduce
the amount of Senior Notes then outstanding in order to improve the Company’s existing capital structure and reduce the amount of outstanding debt of the Company, which we
refer to herein as the “Senior Note Exchange”. The Senior Note Exchange was contingent on both the Combination and Financing closing, all of which were subject to
stockholder vote. The Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange closed on December 31, 2002, and the Company retired an additional $116,774,000 of Senior Notes
plus forgiveness of $8,855,000 of accrued and unpaid interest thereon in exchange for 1,857,436 shares of the Company’s common stock, valued at $12,482,000 based on the
actual exchange date of the Senior Notes and $15,181,000 of cash. The Company wrote-off a proportionate amount of unamortized
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 
debt issuance costs and debt discount associated with these Senior Notes totaling $2,492,000 and $6,004,000, respectively. The Company incurred debt extinguishment costs
totaling approximately $2,500,000 in connection with the retirement of these Senior Notes and recognized a gain on these transactions of $86,970,000. In conjunction with the
Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange, the Company amended the Indenture governing the Senior Notes in order to allow the Combination and Financing to occur.
 

During the first half of 2002, the Company retired $52.8 million of Senior Notes in exchange for approximately 500,000 shares of common stock and approximately $2.5
million of cash, and as a result, recognized a $27.2 million gain on debt extinguishment.
 
6.    FURTHER AMENDMENT OF CREDIT FACILITY
 

In connection with the Combination, Financing and Senior Note Exchange, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Senior
Credit Facility. As part of the Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Senior Credit Facility, the Company permanently repaid $8.5 million of the amount currently
outstanding ($100.0 million). In addition, amendment fees, which were paid to the lenders of $1.3 million, have been reflected as additional debt issuance costs, which will be
amortized to interest expense over the remaining term of this facility.
 
7.    PRO FORMA ADJUSTMENTS
 

The accompanying unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations has been prepared assuming the transactions described above were
completed on December 31, 2001.
 

The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated condensed statement of operations gives effect to the following pro forma adjustments:
 
 (a)  Represents the reversal of revenues related to Pihana’s Korean subsidiary excluded from the Pihana Acquisition.
 
 (b)  Represents (i) the reversal of excess Pihana depreciation as its historical property and equipment was ascribed significantly less value in the acquisition and (ii) the

reversal of depreciation and operating expenses related to Pihana’s Korean subsidiary excluded from the Pihana Acquisition.
 
 (c)  Represents (i) the amortization of the i-STT customer contract intangible resulting from the i-STT Acquisition, over an estimated useful life of 24 months and (ii)

the amortization of the i-STT tradename intangible resulting from the i-STT Acquisition, over an estimated useful life of 12 months.
 
 (d)  Represents the reversal of excess Pihana depreciation as its historical property and equipment was ascribed significantly less value in the Pihana Acquisition.
 
 (e)  Represents the reversal of Pihana’s $101,683,000 impairment charge for long-lived assets, representing the impairment of Pihana’s property and equipment that it

recorded, as these assets were ascribed a significantly lower fair value at the closing of the Pihana Acquisition due to the purchase price.
 
 (f)  Represents the reversal of interest income generated by cash held by Pihana’s Korean subsidiary excluded in the Pihana Acquisition.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS—(Continued)

 

 
(g)  Represents (i) the additional interest expense associated with the Convertible Secured Note issued in the Financing, (ii) the reversal of interest expense associated

with the retirement of Senior Notes under the Senior Note Exchange and (iii) the reversal of interest expense associated with the repayments of the Credit Facility as
follows (in thousands):

 

   

For the
year ended

December 31,
2002

 
Interest expense from Convertible Secured Note   $ (4,200)
Interest expense associated with Convertible Secured Note Warrant    (983)
Interest expense associated with the Convertible Secured Note issuance costs    (116)
Interest expense savings associated with Senior Note exchanges    18,632 
Net interest expense savings associated with Credit Facility repayments    268 
Interest expense related to Korean subsidiary excluded from Pihana acquisition    55 
   
Net change to interest expense   $ 13,656 
   

 

 (h)  Represents the reversal of the gain on debt extinguishments associated with the historical Senior Note debt exchanges during the year ended December 31, 2002 as
these unaudited pro forma financial statements assume that these retirements took place as of December 31, 2001.

 
 (i)  Represents the reversal of other income and expense related to Pihana’s Korean subsidiary excluded in the Pihana Acquisition, primarily the gain recognized on the

sale of the Korean subsidiary.
 
 (j)  Represents the shares of common stock associated with the Combination and Senior Note Exchange as described above as if they were outstanding as of December

31, 2001 as follows (in thousands):
 

Common stock issued in connection with Pihana acquisition   2,416
Common stock issued in connection with i-STT acquisition   1,085
Common stock issued in connection with Senior Note exchange   1,857
   
   5,358
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of Pihana Pacific, Inc.
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the index appearing on page F-1 present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pihana
Pacific, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended and for the period from June
11, 1999 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/    PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
 
San Jose, California
October 17, 2002
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PIHANA PACIFIC, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

 

   September 30,
2002

 

 

December 31,

 

    

2001

  

2000

 
   (unaudited)        
Assets              
Current assets:              

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 5,074  $ 35,077  $ 161,104 
Short-term investments    33,391   32,665   30,522 
Accounts receivable, net    493   308   6 
Income tax receivable    819   1,114   225 
Prepaid expenses and other assets    971   3,604   874 

     
Total current assets    40,748   72,768   192,731 

Property and equipment, net    25,502   107,628   35,730 
Deposits and other assets    6,536   5,697   5,070 
     

Total assets   $ 72,786  $ 186,093  $ 233,531 
     
Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit              
Current liabilities:              

Accounts payable   $ 759  $ 2,069  $ 14,808 
Accrued liabilities    4,463   6,217   1,766 
Current portion of capital lease obligations    1,536   1,748   —   

     
Total current liabilities    6,758   10,034   16,574 

Capital lease obligations—less current portion    661   1,757   —   
Deferred rent    2,470   1,942   893 
Deferred revenue    359   161   —   
     

Total liabilities    10,248   13,894   17,467 
     
Commitments (Note 7)              

Series A redeemable preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding    14,534   13,814   12,854 
Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 123,530,036 shares authorized, 80,189,964

(unaudited), 80,189,964 and 79,211,469 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2002, December 31,
2001 and December 31, 2000, respectively    216,222   216,222   213,592 

Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant    6,741   6,741   6,741 
Stockholders’ deficit:              

Common Stock: $0.001 par value; 183,524,985 shares authorized, 34,770,307 (unaudited), 34,698,036 and
35,403,600 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2002, December 31, 2001 and December 31,
2000, respectively    6   6   6 

Additional paid-in capital    —   —   281 
Deferred stock compensation    —   —   (127)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    294   (3,062)   (247)
Accumulated deficit    (175,259)   (61,522)   (17,036)

     
Total stockholders’ deficit    (174,959)   (64,578)   (17,123)

     
Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit   $ 72,786  $ 186,093  $ 233,531 

     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands)

 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

  

Years Ended
December 31,

  

Period from
June 11,

1999
(date of

inception) to
December 31,

1999

    

2002

  

2001

  

2001

  

2000

  
   (unaudited)           
Revenue   $ 3,123  $ 342  $ 1,018  $ 13  $ —   
Costs and operating expenses:                      

Cost of revenues    23,856   23,183   31,791   10,036   242 
Sales and marketing    5,244   6,611   8,771   3,117   9 
General and administrative    8,029   8,190   10,881   5,381   782 
Non-recurring charges    2,770   463   463   —     —   
Impairment of long-lived assets    77,000   —     —     —     —   

       
Total operating expenses    116,899   38,447   51,906   18,534   1,033 

       
Loss from operations    (113,776)   (38,105)   (50,888)   (18,521)   (1,033)
Other income (expense):                      

Interest and other income    1,283   4,699   5,400   2,344   44 
Foreign currency gain/(loss)    (410)   424   605   —     —   
Interest expense    (145)   (10)   (82)   —     —   

       
Total other income    728   5,113   5,923   2,344   44 

       
Loss before income tax benefit    (113,048)   (32,992)   (44,965)   (16,177)   (989)
Income tax benefit    —     668   1,114   224   —   
       
Net loss   $ (113,048)  $ (32,324)  $ (43,851)  $ (15,953)  $ (989)
       
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(in thousands, except share data)

 

  

Common
Stock

Shares

  

Amount

 

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

  

Deferred
Stock

Compensation

  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (loss)

  

Accumulated
Deficit

  

Total
Stockholders’

Deficit

 
Issuance of common stock  36,000,000  $ 4 $ 12  $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 16 
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock  —     —    (12)   —     —     (94)   (106)
Net loss  —     —    —     —     —     (989)   (989)

        
Balances, December 31, 1999  36,000,000   4  —     —     —     (1,083)   (1,079)
Issuance of common stock  160,000   —    29   —     —     —     29 
Issuance of common stock to consultants  1,400,000   2  901   —     —     —     903 
Repurchase of founder’s stock  (2,156,400)   —    (1)   —     —     —     (1)
Deferred stock compensation  —     —    142   (142)   —     —     —   
Amortization of deferred stock compensation  —     —    —     15   —     —     15 
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock  —     —    (790)   —     —     —     (790)
Comprehensive income (loss):                           

Net loss  —     —    —     —     —     (15,953)   (15,953)
Cumulative translation adjustment  —     —    —     —     (458)   —     (458)
Unrealized gain on short-term investments  —     —    —     —     211   —     211 

        
Net comprehensive loss  —     —    —     —     (247)   (15,953)   (16,200)

        
Balances, December 31, 2000  35,403,600   6  281   (127)   (247)   (17,036)   (17,123)
Issuance of common stock  138,186   —    28   —     —     —     28 
Repurchase of founder’s stock  (843,750)   —    —     —     —     —     —   
Repricing of option grants  —     —    (127)   127   —     —     —   
Deferred stock compensation  —     —    108   —     —     —     108 
Stock compensation on acceleration of option vesting  —     —    35   —     —     —     35 
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock  —     —    (325)   —     —     (635)   (960)
Comprehensive income (loss):                           

Net loss  —     —    —     —     —     (43,851)   (43,851)
Cumulative translation adjustment  —     —    —     —     (3,309)   —     (3,309)
Unrealized gain on short-term investments  —     —    —     —     494   —     494 

        
Net comprehensive loss  —     —    —     —     (2,815)   (43,851)   (46,666)

        
Balances, December 31, 2001  34,698,036   6  —     —     (3,062)   (61,522)   (64,578)
Issuance of common stock, net of repurchases (unaudited)  72,271   —    31   —     —     —     31 
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock (unaudited)  —     —    (31)   —     —     (689)   (720)
Comprehensive income (loss):                           

Net loss (unaudited)  —     —    —     —     —     (113,048)   (113,048)
Cumulative translation adjustment (unaudited)  —     —    —     —     3,648   —     3,648 
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments

(unaudited)  —     —    —     —     (292)   —     (292)

        
Net comprehensive loss (unaudited)  —     —    —     —     3,356   (113,048)   (109,692)

        
Balances, September 30, 2002 (unaudited)  34,770,307  $ 6 $ —    $ —    $ 294  $ (175,259)  $ (174,959)

        
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

  

Years Ended
December 31,

  

Period from
June 11,

1999
(date of

inception) to
December 31,

1999

    

2002

  

2001

  

2001

  

2000

  
   (unaudited)           
Cash flows from operating activities:                      

Net loss   $ (113,048)  $ (32,324)  $ (43,851)  $ (15,953)  $ (989)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                      

Depreciation and amortization    9,801   6,611   10,325   954   10 
Stock-based compensation    —     245   268   945   —   
Loss on disposal of property and equipment    —     —     220   3   —   
Foreign currency gain    410   (424)   (605)   —     —   
Non-recurring charges    2,770   463   463   —     —   
Impairment of long-lived assets    77,000   —     —     —     —   
Changes in certain operating assets and liabilities:                      

Accounts receivable    (184)   (180)   (303)   (248)   (2)
Income tax receivable    295   (668)   (889)   (225)   —   
Prepaid expenses and other assets    2,632   (1,057)   (2,729)   (616)   (13)
Accounts payable    (1,159)   2,321   (506)   2,223   127 
Accrued liabilities    (1,024)   1,497   2,300   1,525   25 
Payments for non-recurring charges    (1,361)   (463)   (463)   —     —   
Deferred rent    528   1,258   1,049   893   —   
Deferred revenue    198   72   161   —     —   

       
Net cash used in operating activities    (23,142)   (22,649)   (34,560)   (10,499)   (842)

       
Cash flows from investing activities:                      

Purchase of property and equipment    (3,129)   (86,162)   (88,836)   (23,742)   (914)
Purchase of short-term investments    (1,018)   (1,299)   (1,649)   (30,311)   —   
Increase in deposits and other assets    (931)   (857)   (627)   (5,045)   (25)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment    —     —     232   —     —   

       
Net cash used in investing activities    (5,078)   (88,318)   (90,880)   (59,098)   (939)

       
Cash flows from financing activities:                      

Proceeds from issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, net    —     2,505   2,505   205,334   —   
Repayments of capital lease obligations    (1,309)   (72)   (416)   —     —   
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    62   27   27   1   16 
Repurchase of common stock    (31)   —     —     (1)   —   
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes    —     —     —     15,000   —   
Proceeds from issuance of Series A redeemable preferred stock, net    —     —     —     9,000   2,958 

       
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    (1,278)   2,460   2,116   229,334   2,974 

       
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (505)   158   (2,703)   174   —   

       
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (30,003)   (108,349)   (126,027)   159,911   1,193 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    35,077   161,104   161,104   1,193   —   

       
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 5,074  $ 52,755  $ 35,077  $ 161,104  $ 1,193 

       
Supplemental cash flow information and disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:                      

Property and equipment acquired under capital leases   $ —    $ 2,039  $ 3,922  $ —    $ —   
Accrued dividends on redeemable preferred stock   $ 720  $ 720  $ 960  $ 790  $ 106 
Accrued liabilities for construction costs   $ 1,419  $ —    $ 2,149  $ —    $ —   
Unrealized gain (loss) on short-term investments   $ (292)  $ 373  $ 494  $ 211  $ —   
Accounts payable for the purchase of property and equipment   $ —    $ 1,532  $ 151  $ 12,383  $ —   
Issuance of common stock to consultants   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 902  $ —   
Conversion of convertible promissory notes and accrued interest into shares of Series B redeemable

convertible preferred stock   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 15,217  $ —   
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock warrant   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 6,741  $ —   
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock to non-employees   $ —    $ —    $ 125  $ —    $ —   
Capitalized interest recorded in property and equipment   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 217  $ —   

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
1.    The Company
 

Pihana Pacific, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on June 11, 1999. The Company provides co-location Internet exchange facilities in Asia, the
Pacific, and the United States. The Company and its subsidiaries have operations in the United States, Singapore, Hong Kong, Japan, Korea, Australia and Taiwan.
 
2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Stock split
 

The Company affected a four-for-one stock split by way of a dividend of three shares of common stock for every one share of common stock outstanding on December
1, 1999 and a two-for-one stock split by way of a dividend of one share of common stock for every one share outstanding on February 18, 2000. All share and per share
amounts in these consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to give effect to these stock splits.
 

Basis of presentation
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. Since its inception, the Company has
been successful in completing several rounds of financing. During the same period, the Company has incurred substantial losses and negative cash flows from operations in
every fiscal period since inception. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company incurred a loss from operations of $50,888,000 and negative cash flows from
operations of $34,560,000. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had an accumulated deficit of $61,522,000. The Company expects that its current cash and cash equivalents
and short-term investments should be sufficient to meet the working capital and corporate overhead requirements associated with data centers for the foreseeable future. Failure
to generate sufficient revenues, raise additional capital, or reduce certain discretionary spending, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to achieve its
intended business objectives.
 

Management’s plans to improve the Company’s liquidity include arranging for alternative sources of funding through additional equity capital, implementing cost saving
initiatives in order to preserve cash or a merger or sale of the Company. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.
 

Basis of consolidation
 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. Significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in
consolidation.
 

Unaudited interim financial information
 

The financial information at September 30, 2002 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2002 and September 30, 2001 is unaudited but includes all adjustments
(consisting of normal recurring adjustments) which the Company considers necessary for a fair presentation of financial position of such data and the operating results and cash
flows for such periods. Results of the nine months ended September 30, 2002 are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year.
 

Certain significant risks and uncertainties
 

The Company operates in a dynamic industry and, accordingly, can be affected by a variety of factors. Management of the Company believes that changes in any of the
following areas could have significant effects
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 
on the Company in terms of its future financial position, results of operations, and cash flows: ability to obtain additional financing; regulatory changes; fundamental changes in
the technology underlying the Company’s products or services; market acceptance of the Company’s products or services under development; litigation or other claims against
the Company; the hiring, training, and retention of key employees; successful and timely completion of product development efforts; new product introductions by competitors;
and achievement of sustained profitable operations.
 

Use of estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 

Financial instruments and concentration of credit risks
 

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risks consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The
Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in high quality financial institutions. The Company performs its services primarily for customers in Asia and the United
States. To reduce credit risk, the Company periodically evaluates its customers’ financial condition and creditworthiness.
 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
 

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with a remaining maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents
consist of money market mutual funds and certificates of deposit with financial institutions with maturities of between 7 and 60 days. Short-term investments generally consist
of certificates of deposits with maturities of between 90 and 180 days and highly liquid debt and equity securities of corporations, municipalities and the U.S. government.
Short-term investments are classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices with unrealized gains and losses reported in
stockholders’ equity as a component of comprehensive income. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.
 

The Company classifies its investment in a fixed income fund as available-for-sale in accordance with the provision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Debt and Equity Securities.” These securities are carried at fair market value (cost at September 30, 2002, December 31, 2001 and 2000
was $32,978,000 (unaudited), $31,960,000 and $30,311,000, respectively), with unrealized gains and losses reported in stockholders’ equity as a component of other
comprehensive loss.
 

Fair value of financial instruments
 

The carrying value amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued expenses approximate their fair value due to either the short-term maturity or the prevailing interest rates of the related instruments.
 

Property and equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated on the straight line basis over their estimated useful lives of two to seven years. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or the useful lives of the improvements.
 

F-17



Table of Contents

PIHANA PACIFIC, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 

Construction in progress
 

Construction in progress includes direct and indirect expenditures for the construction of internet exchange (“IX”) hubs and is stated at original cost. The Company has
contracted out substantially all of the construction of the IX hubs to independent contractors under construction contracts. Construction in progress includes certain costs
incurred under a construction contract including project management services, site identification and evaluation services, engineering and schematic design services, design
development and construction services and other construction-related fees and services. Once a hub becomes operational, these capitalized costs are depreciated at the
appropriate rate consistent with the estimated useful life of the underlying asset.
 

Impairment of long-lived assets
 

The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not
be recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparison of the asset’s carrying amount to the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows the assets are expected to generate.
A deficiency in the cash flows relative to the carrying amount is an indication of the need for write-down due to impairment. The impairment write-down would be the
difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value of the asset. There have been no such impairments of long-lived assets at December 31, 2001 and 2000.
 

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 with effect from January 1, 2002 and recorded an impairment write-down during the three months ended June 30,
2002 (see Note 3).
 

Income taxes
 

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary differences between assets and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized
for income tax reporting purposes. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
 

Deferred rent
 

The Company records its rental expense on long-term leases using the straight-line method. Differences between cash payments and rental expense are recorded as
deferred rent.
 

Revenue
 

Revenue consists of monthly recurring fees for co-location and internet exchange services at the data centers, service fees associated with the delivery of professional
services, and nonrecurring installation fees. Revenues from co-location and internet exchange services are billed monthly and recognized ratably over the term of the contract,
generally one to five years. Professional service fees are recognized in the period in which the services were provided and represent the culmination of the earnings process.
Nonrecurring installation fees are deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the related contract.
 

In December 2001, the Company entered into an agreement with Qwest Hong Kong Technology Ltd (“Qwest HK”) whereby Qwest HK agreed to purchase from the
Company various colocation and related services (“Pihana Services”) at some or all of the data centers operated by the Company and the Company agreed to purchase from
Qwest HK various Internet access services within Asia and the United States (“Qwest Services”) at each of its data centers. The consideration payable for both the Pihana
Services and Qwest Services was, in aggregate, $5,736,000 during a five-year period.
 

F-18



Table of Contents

PIHANA PACIFIC, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 

In light of the nature of this arrangement, the Company has accounted for the value of the purchase commitments and revenues resulting from this agreement as an
exchange arrangement. As a result, and having considered the guidance in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” the
Company has determined that the revenue and purchase commitments arising from this arrangement should be offset and, as a result, there is no overall impact on the results of
operations and balance sheet that arises from this arrangement.
 

Stock-based compensation
 

The Company accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Under the intrinsic value method no compensation expense is recorded when the exercise price of employee stock options equals or exceeds the fair value of the
common stock on the date of grant. The Company provides pro forma disclosure of operating results, as if the minimum value method had been applied.
 

The Company accounts for stock-based awards to nonemployees using the fair value method in accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” and Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) consensus on Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for
Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.”
 

Comprehensive income
 

The Company has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for the reporting and display of
comprehensive income and its components; however, the adoption of this statement had no impact on the Company’s net loss or stockholders’ equity. SFAS No. 130 requires
unrealized gains or losses on the Company’s available-for-sale securities and changes in cumulative translation adjustments to be included in other comprehensive income (loss).
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net loss and other comprehensive income (losses).
 

Cumulative translation adjustment
 

For foreign operations with the local currency as the functional currency, assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates, and the statement of operations
is translated at the average exchange rates during the period. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency translation are included as a component of other comprehensive
income (loss).
 

Derivatives and hedging activities
 

The Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended, at the beginning of its fiscal year 2001. The
standard requires the Company to recognize all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges must be adjusted to fair value through the statement
of operations. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives will either be offset against the change in fair value of
the hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments through earnings, or recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The
ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 did not have a material effect on the
financial statements of the Company. As of December 31, 2001, the Company had not entered into any derivative or hedging activities.
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Recent accounting pronouncements
 

In November 2001, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 01-09, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer or a Reseller of the
Vendor’s Products,” which is a codification of EITF Nos. 00-14, 00-22 and 00-25. This issue presumes that consideration from a vendor to a customer or reseller of the vendor’s
products is a reduction of the selling prices of the vendor’s products and, therefore, should be characterized as a reduction of revenue when recognized in the vendor’s income
statement and could lead to negative revenue under certain circumstances. Revenue reduction is required unless consideration relates to a separate identifiable benefit and the
benefit’s fair value can be established. This issue should be applied no later than in annual or interim financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2001. Upon
adoption the Company is required to reclassify all prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation. The adoption of EITF No. 01-09 did not have a material
impact on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.
 

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS 146 requires that a liability for a cost
associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. SFAS 146 eliminates the definition and requirement for recognition of exit costs in
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3 where a liability for an exit cost was recognized at the date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS 146 is effective for exit
or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS 146 will have a material impact on its results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.
 

Reclassifications
 

Certain amounts in the 2000 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the 2001 presentation.
 
3.    Balance Sheet Components
 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
 

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2001

  

2000

 
Money market   $ 35,077  $ 161,104 
Municipal bonds    32,665   30,522 
    
Total available-for-sale securities    67,742   191,626 
Less: Amounts classified as cash and cash equivalents    (35,077)   (161,104)
    
Total market value of short-term investments   $ 32,665  $ 30,522 
    

 
The maturities of short-term investments at the date of purchase were less than one year.

 
As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, cost approximated market value of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments; unrealized gains and losses were a gain of

$705,000 as of December 31, 2001 and $211,000 as of December 31, 2000. As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, cash equivalents included investments in other securities with
various contractual maturity dates that do not exceed 90 days. Gross realized gains and losses from the sale of securities classified as available-for-sale were not material for the
nine months ended
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September 30, 2002 (unaudited) or the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. For the purpose of determining gross realized gains and losses, the cost of securities is based
upon specific identification.
 

Included within deposits and other assets at December 31, 2001 and 2000 is $1,372,000 and $1,020,000, respectively, of restricted cash pursuant to certain lease
arrangements.
 

Accounts receivable
 

Accounts receivable, net, consists of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

   

2001

  

2000

Accounts receivable   $ 516  $ 6
Unearned revenue    (161)   —  
    
    355   6
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts    (47)   —  
    
   $ 308  $ 6
    

 
Unearned revenue consists of pre-billing for services that have not yet been provided, but which have been billed to customers ahead of time in accordance with the

terms of their contract. Accordingly, the Company invoices its customers at the end of a calendar month for services to be provided the following month.
 

Property and equipment
 

Property and equipment consists of (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2001

  

2000

 
Leasehold improvements   $ 94,712  $ 2,814 
Machinery and equipment    741   200 
Computer equipment and software    18,041   7,603 
Furniture and fixtures    1,118   717 
Construction in progress    3,942   25,360 
    
    118,554   36,694 
Less: Accumulated depreciation    (10,926)   (964)
    
Property and equipment, net   $107,628  $35,730 
    

 
As of December 31, 2001, property and equipment includes $4,229,000 of computer equipment acquired under capital leases. Accumulated amortization of the assets

held under capital leases totaled $307,000. No assets were acquired under capital leases prior to December 31, 2000.
 

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company disposed of assets with a book value of $452,000 and $3,000, respectively, for cash proceeds of
$232,000 and $nil, respectively. As a result of these disposals the Company recorded a loss on disposal of $220,000 and $3,000 during the years ended December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively.
 

In August 2001 the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” ( SFAS 144 ), which addresses financial
accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal
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of long-lived assets. SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, whether
reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations.
 

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 with effect from January 1, 2002. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 144, the Company has considered
whether indicators exist which would indicate that an impairment assessment should be undertaken. This review was undertaken during the three months ended June 30, 2002
and the Company concluded that as a result of a number of factors it would appear to be appropriate to consider whether the Company’s long-lived assets, consisting primarily
of the Company’s IX centers, are impaired. Among the factors the Company considered were:
 
 •  the continuing challenges seen in the managed service sector and the impact this has had on a number of targeted customers, such as Global Crossing, MFN,

Worldcom and Level 3;
 
 •  the impact of the current economic outlook on management’s forecasted results for these assets and the ability to achieve their original forecasted results;
 
 •  the appointment of an investment banker in April 2002 to assist with the exploration of possible sale transactions for the Company;
 
 •  the status of discussions in progress at that time with certain suitors with regard to the potential sale of the assets to a third party; and
 
 •  the expected resale value of the Company’s fixed assets being significantly below their book value given current market conditions.
 

Following this impairment assessment, the Company has determined that the carrying value of the assets exceeds their estimated fair values and recorded an impairment
charge of approximately $77.0 million to write-down the value of long-lived assets during the three months ended June 30, 2002. Management determined the fair value of
assets based on the best available evidence and applied the traditional present value technique as permitted under SFAS 144 using a discount rate of 25%. This discount rate was
based upon the risk-free rate of interest plus an adjustment for a market risk premium based upon historical risk premiums required by investors for companies of the
Company’s size, industry and capital structure and included risk factors specific to the Company. In addition, in determining the market risk premium, management considered
venture capital rates of return required for investment companies during their early stages of development and the risk associated with the corresponding operating challenges.
 

In October 2002, the Company entered into a combination agreement to merge with a wholly owned subsidiary of Equinix, Inc. (see Note 10). Consistent with the
guidance in SFAS 144, however, the Company has treated the carrying value of these long-lived assets as being held and used.
 

Accrued liabilities
 

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

   

2001

  

2000

Accrued compensation expenses   $ 2,524  $ 1,506
Accrued construction costs    2,149   —  
Other liabilities    1,544   260
     
   $ 6,217  $ 1,766
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4.    Redeemable Preferred Stock
 

The Company’s outstanding redeemable preferred stock consists of the following (in thousands, except share data):
 

   

Series A Redeemable
Preferred Stock

  

Series B Redeemable
Convertible

Preferred Stock

 

   

Shares

  

Amount

  

Shares

  

Amount

 
Issuance of Series A redeemable preferred stock   1,250,000  $ 2,958  —    $ —   
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock   —     106  —     —   
         
Balances, December 31, 1999   1,250,000   3,064  —     —   
         
Issuance of Series A redeemable preferred stock   3,750,000   9,000  —     —   
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs of $666   —     —    79,211,469   220,333 
Issuance of Series B redeemable preferred stock warrant   —     —    —     (6,741)
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock   —     790  —     —   
         
Balances, December 31, 2000   5,000,000   12,854  79,211,469   213,592 
         
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs of $100   —     —    933,692   2,505 
Issuance of Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock for non-employee services   —     —    44,803   125 
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock   —     960  —     —   
         
Balances, December 31, 2001   5,000,000   13,814  80,189,964   216,222 

         
Dividends on redeemable preferred stock (unaudited)   —     720  —     —   
         
Balances, September 30, 2002 (unaudited)   5,000,000  $ 14,534  80,189,964  $ 216,222 
         
Liquidation value, September 30, 2002 (unaudited)   —    $ 12,000  —    $ 335,996 
         
 

Included in the Series B preferred stock are 44,803 shares of Series B-1 preferred stock which were issued in 2001 in exchange for services provided to the Company.
The Company has recorded an expense of $125,000 in connection with the issuance of these shares which represents the fair value of the stock granted.
 

Significant terms of the Series A, Series B-1, and Series B-2 preferred stock are as follows:
 

Dividends
 

Dividends on each share of Series A preferred stock accrue at 8% per annum. The dividends are cumulative and payable only if declared by the board of directors of the
Company. No dividends accrue on Series B-1 or B-2 preferred stock.
 

Liquidation preferences
 

If the Company is liquidated, dissolved or wound up, the holders of the Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stock are entitled to receive prior and in preference to any
distribution of any assets to the holders of common stock and Series A preferred stock. The liquidation preference of the Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stock is $4.19 per share.
If funds are sufficient to make a complete distribution to the Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stockholders, the
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holders of the Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive, prior to and in preference to any distribution to holders of common stock, an amount equal to the price at which
the Series A preferred stock was purchased from the Company plus all accrued but unpaid dividends whether or not earned or declared. The liquidation preference of the Series
A preferred stock is $2.40. After such liquidation preference is satisfied, the remaining net assets are distributed ratably to the common stockholders. A merger resulting in a
change in control or a sale of the Company is treated as a liquidation.
 

Voting rights
 

Each share of Series B-1 preferred stock is entitled to the number of votes of common stock into which such shares of Series B-1 preferred stock could be converted.
The Series A and Series B-2 preferred stockholders have no voting rights, except in matters of a liquidation or change in ownership.
 

Conversion
 

Each share of Series B-1 preferred stock is convertible at the option of the holder into the number of shares of Class B common stock as determined by dividing the
Series B issue price by the conversion price in effect at the time of the conversion, initially $2.79.
 

Each share of Series B-2 preferred stock is convertible at the option of the holder into one share of Series B-1 preferred stock or the number of shares of Class B
common stock as determined by dividing the Series B issue price by the conversion price in effect at the time of the conversion.
 

Each share of Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stock is automatically converted into shares of Class B common stock at the conversion price, initially $2.79, upon the
closing of an initial public offering with net proceeds equal or exceeding $80,000,000 at a price per share equal to at least $4.883 or at the election of two-thirds of the holders
of Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stocks.
 

Series A preferred stock is non-convertible.
 

Redemption
 

The Company may at any time redeem all or any portion of the shares of Series A stock then outstanding at a price per share equal to the liquidation preference. At the
request of the majority holders of the Series A preferred stock, the Company shall redeem the Series A preferred stock at an amount equal to $2.40 (plus all accrued and unpaid
dividends) upon the closing of an initial public offering with net proceeds equal or exceeding $25,000,000, at a price per share reflecting “pre-money valuation” of the
Company of not less than $60,000,000. Outside of the preferences granted upon liquidation, the holders of Series B-1 and B-2 preferred stock have no redemption rights.
 

Series B-1 warrants
 

In connection with the issuance of Series B-1 preferred stock, in October 2000, the Company contingently issued warrants to purchase 15,000,000 shares of Series B-1
Stock at an exercise price of $0.01. The purchase rights represented by these warrants were exercisable at any time after March 31, 2001 provided that at such date the
Company had not issued or sold at least an aggregate of 80,645,161 shares of the Company’s Series B preferred stock with aggregate cash proceeds of at least $225,000,000.
The terms of these warrants were amended in March, 2001 such that the warrants were exercisable at any time after March 31, 2001 provided that
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at such date the Company had not issued or sold at least an aggregate of 79,107,526 shares of the Company’s Series B preferred stock with aggregate cash proceeds of at least
$223,000,000.
 

As of March 31, 2001, the Company had issued 80,145,161 shares of Series B stock for total gross proceeds of $223,604,999. As a result, the conditions for the exercise
of these warrants had not been met and as a result, the warrant agreement was effectively terminated.
 

The Company issued warrants to purchase 4,587,384 shares of Series B-1 stock at an exercise price of $5.58 per share. All of these warrants were issued to Series B-1
stockholders and expire upon the earlier of October 2005 or the closing of an initial public offering resulting in proceeds of at least $80,000,000 and with an offering price of at
least $4.88 per share. The estimated value of these warrants was approximately $6,741,000 and was recorded as a reduction to the carrying value of the preferred stock. The
warrant valuation was estimated in accordance with the provisions of APB Opinion No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with Stock Purchase Warrants”,
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model under the following assumptions: risk free interest rate of 5%, expected term of five years, expected dividend yield of 0% and
volatility of 80%.
 
5.    Common Stock
 

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 50,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock, $0.001 par value, 133,524,985 shares of Class B Common Stock,
$0.001 par value, and 128,530,036 shares of Preferred Stock, $0.001 par value, of which 5,000,000 have been designated Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”),
105,608,889 have been designated Series B-1 Preferred, and 17,921,147 of which have been designated Series B-2 Preferred.
 

Repurchase rights
 

In 1999, a total of 9,000,000 shares of Common Stock were issued to the Company’s two founders (the “founders Shares”). The Company has the right of first refusal to
match any purchase offer at the original issuance price with respect to the sale of such founder Shares.
 

In July 2000, in connection with the resignation of one of the Company’s founders, the Company exercised its repurchase option and purchased 2,156,400 unvested
shares of common stock at a price of $0.00045 per share. The remaining 2,203,600 vested shares owned by the founder were sold directly to other officers and common
stockholders at a price of $0.5163 per share. In June 2001, the Company’s other founder resigned. As a result, the founder’s 843,750 unvested shares were repurchased by the
Company.
 

Reserved shares
 

At December 31, 2001, the Company had reserved 105,608,889 and 12,413,214 shares of common stock for future issuance upon conversion of preferred stock and
exercise of options under the stock option plan, respectively. In addition, the Company has reserved 37,508,531 shares of Series B-1 preferred stock for issuance upon the
conversion of the Series B-2 preferred stock and the exercise of Series B-2 warrants.
 

Stock options
 

Under the Company’s 1999 stock option plan (the “Plan”), up to 12,711,400 options may be granted to employees or consultants, including officers and directors, as
incentive or nonstatutory options. Nonstatutory stock options granted to employees, directors, or consultants must be granted at not less than 85% of fair market value at the
date of grant as determined by the board of directors of the Company. If the optionee, at the time the
 

F-25



Table of Contents

PIHANA PACIFIC, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
 
option is granted, owns stock representing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company, the option price of incentive stock options
shall not be less than 110% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. Options under the Plan generally become exercisable 25% on the one- year anniversary of
the grant date and  1/48 per month thereafter. The options under the Plan expire 10 years from the date of grant.
 

A summary of stock option activity is as follows:
 

   

Shares
Available for

Grant

  

Options
Outstanding

  

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share

Outstanding, June 11, 1999   —    —    $ —  
Authorized   12,711,400  —     —  
Granted   (500,000)  500,000   0.005

     
Balances, December 31, 1999   12,211,400  500,000   0.005

Granted   (6,167,500)  6,167,500   0.602
Exercised   —    (115,000)   0.005
Canceled   634,000  (634,000)   0.625

     
Balances, December 31, 2000   6,677,900  5,918,500   0.577

Granted   (7,355,000)  7,355,000   0.625
Exercised   —    (138,186)   0.199
Canceled   901,126  (901,126)   0.060

     
Balances, December 31, 2001   224,026  12,234,188  $ 0.623
     

 
Additional information regarding options outstanding as of December 31, 2001 is as follows:

 

  

Number of
Shares

 

Options
Outstanding

 

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

 

Options Exercisable

Exercise
Price

  

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(in Years)

  

Number of
Shares

 

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$0.005  40,000 7.64 $ 0.005 7,146 $ 0.005
$0.625  12,194,188 8.85 $ 0.625 3,909,528 $ 0.625

     
$0.005-

$0.625  12,234,188 8.85 $ 0.623 3,916,674 $ 0.624
           
 

The weighted-average grant date minimum value per share of options granted to employees under the Plan during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the
period ended December 31, 1999 was $0.136, $0.200 and $0.0015, respectively. The number of exercisable options at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was 3,916,674,
365,925 and nil, respectively. The weighted average exercise price of the exercisable options at December 31, 2001 and 2000 was $0.624 and $0.550. No options were
exercisable at December 31, 1999.
 

Stock-based compensation
 

The Company accounts for its stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, the Company
records deferred stock compensation equal to the difference between the grant price and deemed fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of
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grant. In 2000, the Company recorded deferred stock compensation expense of $142,000. In 2001, these options were amended to increase the exercise price to fair value. As a
result, $127,000 of the unamortized deferred compensation was reversed. In addition, the Company recorded $108,000 and $35,000 of additional stock based compensation in
2001 in relation to a favorable repurchase feature provided as part of one employee stock option grant and the acceleration of option vesting for one employee upon termination
of employment.
 

Had compensation cost been determined based on the minimum value of the options at the grant date, the impact on the Company’s net loss would have been as follows
(in thousands):
 

   

Year Ended December 31,

 

   

2001

  

2000

  

1999

 
Net loss:              

As reported   $(43,851)  $(15,953)  $(989)
Pro forma   $(44,413)  $(16,026)  $(989)

 
For the purpose of pro forma disclosure, the minimum value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the following assumptions for grants in 2001,

2000 and 1999: no dividend yield; risk free interest rates of approximately 4.5%, 6.4% and 5.7%, respectively; no volatility; and expected life of 5.5 years.
 

Non-employee options
 

In June 2000, the Company issued 200,000 shares of common stock to a consultant for consulting services. The Company recorded $125,000 of stock compensation
expense for the issuance of these shares. These shares were valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 0%;
expected volatility of 80%; risk-free rate of 6% and a contractual life of 10 years.
 

In October 2000, the Company issued 1.1 million shares of common stock to a director for past consulting services. The Company recorded $688,000 of stock
compensation expense for the issuance of these shares. The Company also issued 100,000 shares to a university for consulting services. The Company recorded $90,000 of
stock compensation expense for the issuance of these shares. Both stock issuances nullified the stock options previously issued to the directors and university.
 

The fair value of these non-employee options were made using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions: Dividend
yield of 0%; Expected volatility of 80%, Risk-free rate of 6% and a contractual life of 10 years. No option grants were made to non-employees in the year ended December 31,
2001 or the period ended December 31, 1999.
 
6.  Income Taxes
 

The components of the income tax credit for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in thousands):
 

   

2001

  

2000

Current—refundable from the State of Hawaii   $ 1,114  $224
     
Total   $ 1,114  $224
     

 
The current income tax benefit relates to a research and development tax credit the Company was eligible to receive from the State of Hawaii. This 20% credit is

refundable and is based on all qualifying research and
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development expenditures incurred in Hawaii. This tax credit is similar to the federal research and development tax credit but the calculation does not require incremental R&D
expenditures annually.
 

The components of net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2001 and 2000 are as follows (in thousands):
 

   

December 31,

 

   

2001

  

2000

 
Deferred tax assets:          

Net operating loss carryforwards   $ 9,605  $ 3,194 
Start-up costs    1,293   1,646 
Deferred rent    514   250 
Depreciation    458   —   
Accrued vacation    113   —   
Stock compensation    88   118 
Deferred revenue    62   —   

    
    12,133   5,208 
    
Deferred tax liabilities:          

Unrealized gain on short-term investments    (268)   (80)
Depreciation    —     (96)

    
Gross deferred tax assets    11,865   5,032 
Valuation allowance    (11,865)   (5,032)
    
Net deferred tax assets   $ —    $ —   
    

 
The 2001 and 2000 provisions differ from the amount computed using the statutory rate primarily due to foreign operations and translation adjustments.

 
The net increase in the valuation allowance in 2001 was primarily the result of increased net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards generated during the year,

against which the Company provided a full valuation based on the Company’s evaluation of the likelihood of realization of future tax benefits resulting from deferred tax assets.
 

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had available for carryforward net operating losses for federal and state income tax purposes of approximately $25,277,000,
which will expire in 2021, and is subject to limitations. During 2001 and 2000, the Company accrued approximately $1.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively, in research and
development credits from the State of Hawaii.
 

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 limits the use of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards in certain situations where changes occur in the stock ownership of a
company. If the Company experiences a change in ownership, utilization of the carryforwards could be restricted.
 
7.  Commitments
 

Lease obligations
 

Facilities are leased under noncancelable operating leases expiring through December 31, 2015. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
period from June 11, 1999 (date of inception) to December 31, 1999, was $9,599,000, $2,445,000, and $122,000, respectively.
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Future minimum payments for noncancelable leases at December 31, 2001 are as follows (in thousands):
 

Year Ending December 31,

  

Capital
Leases

  

Operating
Leases

2002   $ 1,909  $ 7,883
2003    1,503   7,227
2004    293   7,153
2005    —     6,838
2006    —     6,894
Thereafter    —     38,665
    
Total minimum lease payments    3,705  $ 74,660
    
Less: Amount representing interest    (200)    

      
Present value of minimum lease payments    3,505    
Less: Current portion    (1,748)    

      
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations   $ 1,757    

      
 

In June 2001, the Company entered into an agreement to surrender its operating leasehold in Osaka, Japan (the “Agreement to Surrender”). As stipulated in the
Agreement to Surrender, the Company paid rent through June 2001 and paid a cash termination on fee of approximately $463,000. In exchange, the Company received in full its
deposit on this lease. This has been included in the restructuring charge for the year ended December 31, 2001.
 

In August 2002, the Company entered into additional lease termination agreements for two other operating leaseholds (see Note 10).
 

Bandwidth purchase commitment
 

In December 2001, the Company entered into an agreement with Qwest HK whereby Qwest HK agreed to purchase from the Company the Pihana Services at some or all
of the data centers operated by the Company and the Company agreed to purchase from Qwest HK the Qwest Services at each of its data centers. The consideration payable for
both the Pihana Services and Qwest Services was, in aggregate, $5,736,000 during a five-year period.
 

In light of the nature of this arrangement, the Company has accounted for the value of the purchase commitments and revenues resulting from this agreement as an
exchange arrangement. As a result, and having considered the guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, (APB 29), the Company has determined that the revenue and purchase
commitments arising from this arrangement should be offset and, as a result, there is no overall impact on the results of operations and balance sheet that arises from this
arrangement.
 

Software license agreement
 

On March 30, 2001, the Company entered into a three-year technology license agreement with Storage Networks, Inc. whereby Storage Networks granted a non-
exclusive, non-assignable right and license to install and execute the Storage Network technology for the Company’s internal use and external use as part of the
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Company’s I center solutions. In exchange for this license agreement, the Company has agreed to pay the following:
 
 •  Corporate launch fee of $1 million, payable in six monthly installments commencing March 2001; and
 
 •  Additional minimum service fees of $1 million, payable by March 30, 2002 and $3 million, payable by March 30, 2003.
 

As of December 31, 2001, the Company had paid approximately $1 million in accordance with the terms of the contract and had commitments to pay $1 million in the
year ended December 31, 2002 and $3 million in the year ended December 31, 2003.
 

In June, 2002, the Company terminated this agreement. In consideration for this termination, the Company agreed to pay a termination fee $1,250,000 in addition to
approximately $1 million of payments made to date under the terms of the agreement. As a result of this termination, the Company wrote-off the remaining net book value of the
license agreement of approximately $750,000.
 

Employee change of control commitments
 

Four of the Company’s employees are entitled to severance pay in the event of termination. Under the agreements in place, severance payments can range from $980,000
to $3.6 million, depending on certain factors which are conditional upon a change of control for the Company.
 

Two employees have Hong Kong expatriate agreements which require the Company pay various expenses, including: housing; cost of living differential; education costs
for children; auto expense; annual home leave costs for three weeks per year; income taxes in Hong Kong on all Company related income; and other expenses. Upon
consummation of change of control prior to July 1, 2003 or if terminated then, then at the Company’s option either: (i) employee shall be paid by the Company in the amount
equal to any accrued and unpaid benefits for period ending July, 2003 or (ii) as a condition of such change of control any successor entity shall agree to be bound and assume the
Company’s obligations hereunder. Expatriate expenses for the year ending December 31, 2001 were approximately $600,000.
 
8.  Employee Benefit Plans
 

Effective September 1, 2000, the Company adopted a 401(k) plan. Employees meeting the eligibility requirements, as defined, may contribute up to 15% of their salaries.
The Company has not made any contributions to the 401(k) plan.
 
9.  Related Party Transactions
 

Included in construction in progress and accounts payable at December 31, 2000 are $8,654,000 and $6,577,000, respectively, of software design costs owed to a Series
B convertible preferred stockholder. During 2001, the Company reached an agreement to pay $2.5 million as consideration for these services and reduced the construction in
progress to reflect the reduced cost.
 

At December 31, 2001, the Company had accounts payable of $118,000 owing to a Series B convertible preferred stockholder.
 

At December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, the Company had cash equivalents and short-term investments of $52,576,000 and $172,732,000 held with a Series B
convertible preferred stockholder.
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10.  Subsequent Events
 

Leasehold property
 

In August 2002, the Company finalized its agreement to exit its excess office leasehold in Singapore. As part of this agreements, the Company agreed to pay a one-time
cash settlement fee of $113,000 and give up its deposit on this property (approximately $100,000). As a result of vacating this property, the Company also wrote-off all property
and equipment located in this excess office space, primarily leasehold improvements and some furniture and fixtures, totaling approximately $490,000.
 

In August, 2002, the Company entered into an arrangement to sublease part of its Honolulu office space.
 

Employee commitments
 

In March 2002, the Company granted two $600,000 promissory notes to two executive officers of the Company. These are non-interest bearing. In addition, the
Company has committed to forgive these notes beginning March 2003. Forgiveness also occurs if the employees are terminated prior to a change of control of the Company.
 

Effective April 2002, certain employees (“Covered Employee”) are entitled to bonus payments in the event of a change of control. Under the terms of the proposed
transaction, each Covered Employee would receive a bonus of the greater of 5% of total consideration or $1.0 million. In the case of one of the employees, any bonus to be paid
will be reduced by the amount of retention loss forgiveness by the Company (up to $600,000). In addition, in the case of all these employees, any bonus to be paid will be
reduced by the aggregate fair market value of all equity instruments or other benefits received pursuant to the Company’s 1999 stock option plan and any other incentive plan or
compensatory award paid.
 

Merger
 

In October 2002, the Company entered into a combination agreement to merge with a wholly owned subsidiary of Equinix, Inc. in exchange for approximately 76.6
million shares of Equinix common stock. The merged company will continue to operate under the Equinix name and management. The combination agreement provides that
10% of the merger consideration to be issued will be held in escrow to secure the obligations of the Company’s stockholders to indemnify Equinix for certain losses.
 

The combination agreement contemplates that 22.5% of the fully diluted capitalization (as defined in the combination agreement) will be issued in the merger if the
Company’s cash balance (as defined in the combination agreement) is $28.0 million or higher. The percentage interest will be reduced based on reductions in that cash balance.
 

The merger is subject to a number of conditions and no assurance can be given that the merger will be completed. The Company’s estimated transaction costs are
approximately $2,625,000 in connection with the merger.
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This prospectus is part of a registration statement we filed with the SEC. You should rely only on the information or representations provided in this prospectus. We
have authorized no one to provide you with different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any state where the offer is not permitted. You
should not assume that the information in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of the document.
 

5,369,732 Shares
 

EQUINIX, INC.
 

Common Stock
 

 

June 30, 2003
 

 


	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents

